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Important Notice
Unless stated otherwise, terms used in this Prospectus shall have the meanings attributed to them in 
Section 5 - Definitions of this Prospectus. 

It is the intention of the Company to apply to the Jamaica Stock Exchange for all of the Ordinary Shares 
to be listed on the JSE as soon as conveniently possible following the closing of the Invitation and the 
allocation of the Ordinary Shares. However, this statement is not to be construed to be a guarantee 
that the Ordinary Shares will be listed.
 
The Directors whose signatures appear in Section 19 – Directors’ Signatures of this Prospectus are 
individually and collectively responsible for the contents of this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge 
and belief of the Directors, the information contained in this Prospectus is factually correct and true 
and no information has been omitted that would make any statement in this Prospectus misleading or 
that is likely to otherwise materially affect its interpretation.

The JSE does not accept any responsibility for the contents of this document nor does it make any 
representations as to its accuracy or completeness, and the JSE expressly disclaims any liability 
whatsoever for any loss arising from or in reliance upon any part of this document.

This Prospectus is issued by the Company to the public in Jamaica only and is not to be construed 
as making an invitation or offer to persons outside of Jamaica to subscribe for any shares or other 
securities.
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Key Dates
The Application Form to be used by all Applicants is provided at Appendix I of this Prospectus together 
with notes on how to complete the form. The Invitation will open at 9.00 am on the Opening Date and 
will close at 4:30 p.m. on the Closing Date subject to the right of the Company to: (a) close the Invitation 
at any time after 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date once the Invitation is fully subscribed, or (b) extend the 
period during which the Invitation shall remain open  for any reason, provided that such period  does 
not extend beyond the expiration of 40 days after the publication of this Prospectus for the purposes 
of Section 48 of the Companies Act. In the case of the extension of such period or an early closing, 
notice will be posted on the websites of the JSE at www.jamstockex.com, and NCB Capital Markets 
Limited at http://www.ncbcapitalmarkets.com.

The below timetable is indicative and will be implemented on a best efforts basis, with the Directors 
however reserving the right (in consultation with the Broker) to change the dates that the Invitation 
opens and closes based on market conditions and other relevant factors as determined by the 
Company subject always to statutory and regulatory obligations.

Date of Prospectus

Opening Date

Closing Date

Expected dispatch of investor statements 
and any refund if applicable

Normal trading of shares

June 27, 2018

July 6, 2018

July 20, 2018 
(subject to the right of the Company to designate an earlier 
or later date in the circumstances set out in this Prospectus)

Within 10 days of Closing Date

Within 45 days of Closing Date
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Summary of
Key Information
The following summary information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with, and is 
qualified in its entirety by, the full text of this Prospectus, including the Appendices.

Potential investors are advised to read this entire Prospectus carefully before making an investment 
decision about the transactions herein. Each recipient’s attention is specifically drawn to the Risk 
Factors in Section 16 - Risk Exposures & Risk Management Policies of this Prospectus and the 
disclaimers in this Prospectus.
 
If you have any questions arising out of this document or if you require any explanations, you 
should consult your stock broker, licensed investment advisor, attorney-at-law, accountant or other 
professional advisor. 

Company: Stanley Motta Limited

Shares the subject
of the Invitation :

757,818,862 Ordinary Shares (inclusive of 227,348,547 Reserved 
Shares) available for purchase

Invitation Price: $5.31 per Ordinary Share

Use of Proceeds: None of the net proceeds from the Invitation will be payable to the 
Company as all the shares the subject of the Invitation are being 
sold by the Selling Shareholders  

Intention to List: The Company intends to apply to the JSE for the listing on the Main 
Market of the JSE of all the Shares and to make such application 
as soon as is conveniently possible following the closing of the 
Invitation

Timetable: The below timetable is indicative and will be implemented on a 
best efforts basis, with the Directors however reserving the right (in 
consultation with the Broker) to change the dates that the Invitation 
remains open based on market conditions and other relevant 
factors

i. Distribution of Prospectus – June 27, 2018 
ii. The Opening Date – 9:00am on July 6, 2018
iii. The Closing Date (completed and signed Application Forms to be 

received by) – 4:30pm on July 20, 2018
iv. Allocations expected to be determined within 21 days of the 

Closing Date
v. Where applicable, it is expected that refunds will be distributed 

to the Broker within 10 days of the Closing Date 
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Message from
the Chairman
to Prospective Investors

Dear Prospective Investors:

The Board of Stanley Motta Limited 
is pleased to invite you to apply to 
purchase 757,818,862 ordinary shares 
in the capital of the Company on the 
terms set out in this Prospectus.

Stanley Motta Limited owns 58 HWT, a major 
business process outsourcing and technology 
park in the English-speaking Caribbean. 58 HWT 
sits on over six acres of prime land at the  nexus of 
Half Way Tree and New Kingston and consists of 
over 200,000 square feet of recently constructed 
commercial office space. Most of 58 HWT’s rental 
space is leased to tenants under triple-net leases 

denominated in United States dollars.
 

The BPO industry is currently one 
of the fastest-growing segments 
of the Jamaican economy. 58 
HWT has the capacity to provide 
over 3,300 call centre seats. 
Our anchor tenant is a US-
based global business process 
outsourcing firm that uses our 
site to serve its clients, including 
some of the largest companies in 
the world.

Melanie Subratie
CHAIRMAN
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Our Directors bring vast experience in accounting, 
law, finance, and real estate to the Board. Each of 
our Directors has previously led or served as a 
director of a listed company and/or public-sector 
entity. Our Board will also be the first all-female 
Board of a listed company in Jamaica’s history.
 
My family and I intend to subscribe for all the 
Reserved Shares. The Invitation values the 
Company as the market value of its 58 HWT 
property as determined by an independent 
appraiser less the Company’s indebtedness. Our 
investment, at the same price and on equal terms 
as other investors, signifies our confidence in the 
future of the Company and aligns our interest 
with all shareholders.
 
In summary, the Invitation makes available to 
investors the following investment opportunities: 
(a) ownership of a large commercial property 
situated on prime land in the heart of Kingston’s 
commercial corridor, (b) participation in the capital 
appreciation of the property and income from 
its triple-net, United States dollar denominated 
leases, (c) exposure to the BPO industry through 
the tradable shares of a Jamaica Stock Exchange 
listed company, and (d) the ability to invest at net 
appraised value on the same terms as the lead 
shareholders.

Stanley Motta Limited is proud to have contributed 
to the development of Jamaica by executing the 
58 HWT project which will house up to 5,000 
permanent jobs. We are now pleased to invite 
you to participate in the commercial initiatives 
of the Company and to derive the benefits from 
the investment solicited by the Invitation in this 
Prospectus.

How to make an application for 
Shares

Those investors who are interested in purchasing 
Shares should read this Prospectus in its entirety 
inclusive of the Risk Exposures detailed at Section 
16 and then complete and sign the Application 
Form set out in the Appendices.

Best regards,

________________________
Melanie Subratie
Chairman
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Definitions
Word or Phrase Definition

Applicant A person (being an individual or a body corporate) who submits an Application 
and includes a Reserved Share Applicant.

Application

An application for Shares made by the required Application Form the same to 
be duly signed/executed by the Applicant and submitted along with payment 
(or, in the case of the Reserved Share Applicants only, proof of payment) of the 
Price with respect to the Shares, the subject of the Application.

Application Form The form of application to be used by all Applicants who wish to make an offer 
to purchase Shares in the Invitation, as set out in the Appendix I.

Application List The application list in respect of the Invitation.

Articles The Articles of Incorporation of the Company.

Arranger NCB Capital Markets Limited, a securities dealer, duly licensed under the laws 
of Jamaica, with offices at “The Atrium”, 32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10, Jamaica.

Broker NCB Capital Markets Limited.

Board of Directors The Board of Directors of the Company, details of which are set out in Section 
12. 

Campus or 58 HWT
or the Properties

A business process outsourcing and technology park consisting of five buildings 
totaling over 200,000 square feet of rentable commercial office space at 58 
Half Way Tree Road in Kingston, Jamaica.

Company or Stanley 
Motta  

Stanley Motta Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Jamaica on 
December 23, 1948.

Closing Date
The date on which the Invitation closes, being 4:30 pm on July 20, 2018, subject 
to the right of the Company to shorten or extend the period during which the 
Invitation will remain open, in the circumstances set out in this Prospectus.

Directors The directors of Stanley Motta.

Directors’ Reserved 
Shares

500,000 Shares in the Invitation initially reserved for priority application from 
the Directors.

Invitation The invitation to purchase Ordinary Shares made by the Selling Shareholders 
on the terms and conditions set out in this Prospectus.

Invitation is successful
The Invitation raises at least J$4 billion from Applicants  (including, if applicable, 
the Broker in satisfaction of its underwriting commitment described under 
Section 17. - Statutory & General Information) by the Closing Date.
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JCSD

Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the JSE, incorporated under the laws of Jamaica to provide depository and 
settlement services for securities traded electronically on the floor of the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange using a book entry system.

JSE
The exchange operated by Jamaica Stock Exchange Limited, a company 
incorporated under the laws of Jamaica with its registered and principal 
office at 40 Harbour Street, Kingston, Jamaica. 

Management Company 
or Felton

Felton Property Services Limited, a company incorporated under the laws 
of Jamaica on April 9, 2018 that will provide property, administration and 
accounting services for the ICT/BPO campus at 58 Half Way Tree Road. It is 
a subsidiary of Musson.

Musson Musson (Jamaica) Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of 
Jamaica on July 10, 1963.

Musson Group The group of companies affiliated and/or associated with Musson.

Invitation Price
or Price $5.31 per ordinary share in Jamaican currency. 

Opening Date The date on which the Invitation opens, being  July 6, 2018.

Preference Shares The 6% Cumulative Preference Shares at $2.00 each in the capital of the 
Company.

Registrar and Paying 
Agent

Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited, 40 Harbour Street, Kingston, 
Jamaica or such other person as may be appointed by the Company from 
time to time to provide the services of registrar and paying agent for the 
Company.

Reserved Share 
Applicant(s)

Stony Hill Capital Limited, Caona Investments Limited and Perseverance 
Limited. 

Reserved Shares 227,348,547 Shares in the Invitation initially reserved for priority application 
from the Reserved Share Applicants.

Shareholders Holders of shares in the capital of the Company.

Shares or Ordinary 
Shares The ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Selling Shareholders

(i) Musson, and

(ii) Harbour Street Properties Limited, a company incorporated under the 
International Business Companies Act Cap 12.14 of the laws of St. Lucia 
on November 2, 2011 being a subsidiary of Musson.

Underwriters NCB Capital Markets Limited.

Unity Capital or UCI Unity Capital Inc., a company incorporated under the International Business 
Companies Act Cap 12.14 of the laws of St. Lucia on April 30, 2010.

10STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Disclaimer
Forward Looking 
Statements
Save for the historical financial information contained in this Prospectus, certain matters discussed 
in this Prospectus contain forward-looking statements including but not limited to statements of 
expectations, future plans or future prospects, and financial projections. Forward-looking statements 
are statements that are not about historical facts and speak only as of the date they are made. Although 
the Board of Directors believes that in making any such statements its expectations are based on 
reasonable assumptions, such statements may be influenced by factors that could cause actual 
outcomes and results to be different or materially different from those projected. Prospective investors 
in the Company are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which 
speak only as of the dates on which they have been made. Future events or circumstances could cause 
actual results to differ or differ materially from historical or anticipated results.

When used in this Prospectus, the words “anticipates”, “believes”, “expects”, “intends” and similar 
expressions, as they relate to the Company, are intended to identify those forward-looking statements. 
These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. Once this Prospectus 
has been signed by or on behalf of the Company, and prior to the admission of the Company to the 
Main Market of the JSE, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any of 
the forward-looking statements in light of new information or future events, including changes in the 
Company’s financial or regulatory position, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events (subject 
to any legal or regulatory requirements for such disclosure to be made). There are important factors 
that could cause actual results to differ or differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, 
certain of which are beyond the Company’s control. These factors include, without limitation, economic, 
social and other conditions prevailing both within and outside of Jamaica, including:

• actual rates of growth of the Jamaican and regional economies, instability, high domestic 
inflation and unemployment;

• interest rates or exchange rate volatility;
• adverse climatic events and natural disasters;
• unfavourable market receptiveness to new products and services;
• changes in any legislation or policy adversely affecting the revenues or expenses of the 

Company or its tax status;
• any other factor negatively impacting on the realization of the assumptions on which the 

Company’s financial projections are based;
• other factors identified in this Prospectus;
• factors as yet unknown to the Company.
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The Selling Shareholders invite the public to 
purchase up to 757,818,862 Shares subject to 
the terms and conditions of this Prospectus.

A total of 227,348,547 Shares are Reserved 
Shares for the Reserved Share Applicant(s). In 
addition to that sum, there is a total of 500,000 
Directors’ Reserved Shares.

Issued Ordinary Shares at the date of 
this Prospectus

Shares the subject of the Invitation 
(all are Ordinary Shares)

Total Issued Ordinary Shares in the 
event that the Invitation is fully 
subscribed

If any of the Reserved Shares or the Directors’ 
Reserved Shares are not purchased by the 
Reserved Share Applicant(s) or the Directors 
as applicable, they will become available for 
purchase by the general public in accordance 
with this Prospectus.

All the Shares are priced at the Invitation Price 
being $5.31 per Ordinary Share.

The Application List will open at 9.00 a.m. on July 
6, 2018 (the “Opening Date”) and will close on July 
20, 2018 at 4.30 p.m., (the “Closing Date”) subject 
to the Company’s right to close the Application 
List at any time without notice, if Applications 
have been received for the full amount of the 
Shares the subject of the Invitation. Applications 
are due within the period commencing with 
Opening Date and ending on the Closing Date.

Subject to the provisions below, the Company 
reserves the right to extend the period during 
which the Invitation will remain open, and to 
accept over-subscriptions to an amount to be 
determined by the Board of Directors at the 
time of the Invitation. The acceptance of any 
such over-subscriptions will be subject to the 
FSC not offering any objection to the offer of 
such additional shares. Allocations may be on 
a prorated basis, 21 days after the Invitation is 
closed, and an announcement will be made 
informing of the allocation of Shares to successful 
Applicants.

Applications should be made on the original of 
the Application Form provided at the end of this 
Prospectus and can be downloaded from the 
websites of the JSE at http://www.jamstockex.
com and NCB Capital Markets Limited at http://
www.ncbcapitalmarkets.com.

While supplies last, physical copies of this 
Prospectus are available at the locations of NCB 
Capital Markets Limited listed in Appendix I.

The Invitation

Selling Shareholders 757,818,862 Shares

Other Shareholders 9,628 Shares

Reserved Share 
Applicant(s)

227,348,547 Shares

Directors 500,000 Shares

General Public 529,970,315 Shares

Reserved Share 
Applicant(s)

227,348,547 Shares

General Public 529,970,315 Shares

Directors 500,000 Shares

Other Shareholders 
(i.e. shareholdings 
existing prior to the 
Invitation)

9,628 Shares

SECTION 7 12STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



The Invitation will close at 4.30 pm on the Closing Date subject to the right of the Company to: (a) 
close the Invitation at any time after its opens at 9.00 am on the Opening Date once the Invitation is 
fully subscribed; or (b) extend the period during which the Invitation will remain open for any reason, 
provided that such period does not extend beyond the expiration of 40 days after the publication of 
this Prospectus for the purposes of section 48 of the Companies Act.  In the case of the extension of 
such period or an early closing, notice will be posted on the websites of the JSE at www.jamstockex.
com, and NCB Capital Markets Limited at http://www.ncbcapitalmarkets.com 

It is the intention of the Company to apply to the JSE to list the Shares on the Main Market of the JSE. 
The application to the JSE is dependent on (i) the Invitation raising at least J$4 billion and (ii) all the 
criteria for admission being met. There is no guarantee that any of the Shares will be admitted to listing.

The Selling Shareholders expect to receive the amount of J$4 billion pursuant to this Invitation. 
If, however the Invitation does not raise the required minimum of J$4 billion (inclusive of calling 
on the underwriting commitment described under “Statutory & General Information” at Section 
17 below) within forty (40) days after the date of this Prospectus the application for listing will 
not be made and all payments for the Shares received from Applicants will be returned to 
the Applicants. Further, if the required minimum is raised but the Company does not meet 
the criteria for listing on the JSE all payments for the Shares received from Applicants will be 
returned to the Applicants.

Use of proceeds:
 
None of the net proceeds from the Invitation will be payable to the Company as all the Shares the 
subject of the Invitation are being sold by the Selling Shareholders.

The Selling Shareholders intend to use the proceeds from the sale of their Shares for their own 
purposes. Details on expenses related to this Invitation, which will be paid from the proceeds of the 
Invitation, are contained in Section 17 - Statutory and General Information.
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Advisors
to the Invitation

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Scotiabank Centre
Duke Street
Kingston
Tel: 876.922.6230

Auditors:

Legal Advisors to 
the Company:

Arranger, Broker 
and Underwriter:

Legal Advisors to 
the Broker:

DunnCox
48 Duke Street,
Kingston, 
Jamaica
Tel: 876.922.1500

NCB Capital Markets Limited
“The Atrium”
32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10
Jamaica
Tel: 876.960.7108

Patterson Mair Hamilton
Temple Court
85 Hope Road, Kingston 6,
Jamaica
Tel: 876.920.4000
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History

The Company was established in 1948 by its founder, Mr. Stanley Motta. For many decades, it was 
successfully engaged in the sale and rental of electrical appliances in Jamaica. In 1983, it was acquired 
by Musson and continued to operate until 1998 following which it became a dormant subsidiary.

In 2015, Musson selected Stanley Motta as the vehicle through which it would develop the 58 HWT 
project. In 2016 and 2017 Stanley Motta acquired properties located at 58 Half Way Tree Road in 
Kingston from Musson. Today Stanley Motta owns all the Properties either directly or through its own 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Unity Capital, with the exception of the great house which was retained by 
Musson.

Stanley Motta led the development of 58 HWT including planning, designing, and 
permitting the project; managing the services and discharge of obligations by the 
general contractor, project manager and other key service providers; identifying, 
and negotiating terms and conditions of letting/leases with all tenants; and providing 
ongoing property management services.

Company
Overview

SECTION 915 STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Location

58 HWT is situated on over six acres of prime land at the nexus of Half Way Tree and New Kingston. The 
property borders Half Way Tree Road on the west, the National Housing Trust on the south, Richmond 
Avenue on the north and the Marriott Courtyard Hotel and Liguanea Club on the east.

The property is in the heart of Kingston’s commercial corridor and is directly connected to the city’s 
major transportation links. 58 HWT is equidistant from the Half Way Tree and Cross Roads bus terminals. 
Access to transportation makes 58 HWT desirable for tenants operating in the BPO, finance, medical 
and other service sectors.

58 HWT is also located near Kingston’s 
major hotels. We believe over 800 hotel 
rooms are located within a 10-minute walk 
from the property, with another 200 rooms 
currently under renovation. The Marriott 
Courtyard directly borders on 58 HWT and 
the Jamaica Pegasus, The Courtleigh Hotel, 
Spanish Court Hotel and the hotel formerly 
known as the Kingston Hilton are all located 
less than a mile away.

HALF WAY TREE 
BUS TERMINAL

CROSSROADS 
BUS TERMINAL
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58 HWT is a campus-style business process outsourcing and technology park consisting of five 
commercial office buildings totaling over 200,000 square feet located around a central Georgian-style 
great house.

Campus

4
1 2

3

5

Unit 4 is the largest structure on the Campus and is located 
on the property’s northern border along Richmond Avenue. It is a 
recently-constructed five-storey building consisting of over 112,500 square feet of 
rentable commercial office space. Unit 4’s tenant took possession of the building as a cold 
hard shell in April 2018 and is currently finishing its interior.

Units 2 and 3 are in the southeastern corner of the property bordering the Marriott Courtyard and 
the National Housing Trust respectively. Unit 3 is a recently-renovated two-storey building consisting 
of over 41,500 rentable square feet of commercial office space. Unit 2 is also recently-renovated 
and adjoins Unit 3 but is a smaller single-storey structure consisting of 8,300 rentable square feet of 
commercial office space.

Unit 4 and Units 2 and 3 are all currently in use in the business process outsourcing industry. 
Collectively, these buildings have the capacity to house 3,300 call centre seats and 5,000 employees.
 

GH
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Unit 1 is a recently renovated two-storey structure consisting of over 8,266 rentable square feet located 
in the southeast corner of the property bordering on Liguanea Club. The building is currently used by 
two technology firms and also houses the offices of the Management Company.

Units 1, 2, 3 and 4 are all owned directly by Stanley Motta.

Unit 5 is commonly known as the General Accident building. It is an over 29,706 square foot two-storey 
building located directly on Half Way Tree Road on the southwest corner of the property. Its tenants are 
engaged in the insurance, financial services and medical industries.

Unit 5 is owned by Unity Capital, a wholly owned subsidiary of Stanley Motta.

The Campus’s five buildings are arranged around a central historic great house built in a traditional 
Georgian architectural style. The great house provides amenities to the Campus including meeting 
rooms, a cafe, and an ABM facility. While Stanley Motta has access to the great house, it is owned by 
Musson.
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Unit 1
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OCT 05
  2016

CONCEPTUNIT 1  RENOVATION PROJECT  - HALF WAY TREE ROAD

INTERIOR VIEW OF TEPINS MAIN OFFICE
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Unit 1
Overview
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of commercial 
office space

Unit 1 Overview

8,266
OVER

RENTAL 
SQUARE 
FEET
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Unit 2
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JUNE 10
  2016

CONCEPT

UNIT 2
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Unit 2
Overview
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8,300
OVER

RENTAL 
SQUARE 
FEET
of commercial 
office space

Unit 2 Overview
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Unit 3
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JUNE 10
  2016

CONCEPT

UNIT 3
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Unit 3
Overview
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of commercial 
office space

41,500
OVER

RENTAL 
SQUARE 
FEET

Unit 3 Overview
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Unit 4
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Unit 4
Overview
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of commercial office space

112,500
OVER

RENTAL SQUARE 
FEET
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Unit 5
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Unit 5
Overview
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of commercial 
office space

29,706
OVER

RENTAL 
SQUARE 
FEET

Unit 5 Overview
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Leases

All of 58 HWT’s 200,000 square 
feet of rentable space is leased. 
Leases are generally triple-
net meaning that tenants are 
responsible for all expenses 
arising by reason of occupation, 
including insurance, property 
tax and maintenance expenses. 
All of 58 HWT’s leases are 
denominated in United States 
dollars and rent under each 
lease is required to be paid 
in United States Dollars. The 
weighted average tenor and 
annual rent per square foot 
are 4.7 years and US$12.09, 
respectively.
  
58 HWT’s anchor tenant 
is Jamaica Agent Services 
Limited, the local subsidiary 
of Alorica Inc. Alorica is a US-
based global business process 
outsourcing firm and the third 
largest provider of customer 
experience solutions in the 
world. The company has 
over 100,000 employees and 
operates from 140 locations 
in 16 countries around the 
world in North America and 
the Caribbean, Latin America, 
Europe, China, the Philippines, 
and Japan. Alorica serves over 
600 clients many of which are 
on the annual list of the 500 
largest companies in the United 
States as compiled by Fortune 
magazine.
  
Under the terms of Stanley 
Motta’s two leases with Alorica, 
Alorica took possession of Units 
2, 3 and 4 each as a “cold hard 
shell” and paid to complete 
the buildings at its own 
expense including all interior 
walls, ceilings and finishes, 

the installation of an HVAC 
system and all furniture, fittings 
and equipment. Additionally, 
both of Stanley Motta’s leases 
with Alorica have terms of 5 
years with renewal clauses. 
The Directors believe that the 
structure of Stanley Motta’s 
leases with Alorica create both 
a contractual and economic 
incentive for Alorica to remain a 
tenant for the remainder of the 
lease terms.

The second largest tenant at 
58 HWT is General Accident. 
General Accident is one of 
the largest general insurance 
companies in Jamaica and is 
listed on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange. Like Alorica, General 
Accident’s lease with Stanley 
Motta has a 5-year term. 
Additionally, General Accident 
has occupied Unit 5 for over 20 
years.

Property Management

58 HWT will be managed by 
Felton Property Management 
Services Limited, a subsidiary 
of Musson. Under Felton’s 
property management 
agreement with Stanley Motta, 
Felton  will be responsible for 
all day-to-day on-site property 
management, administration 
and accounting services for 
58 HWT including: maintaining 
and repairing the buildings and 
grounds; managing services/
responsibilities by service 
providers, managing tenant 
relationships, negotiating terms 
and conditions of occupation 
with prospective and existing 
tenants, preparing property 
management reports and 
annual budgets, preparing 

management accounts, 
coordinating with external 
auditors, making all tax and 
other filings among other 
things.
 
Felton’s remuneration for 
these services is a maximum 
of US$1.50 annually per 
square foot and will be paid 
from the maintenance charges 
levied on Stanley Motta’s 
tenants at 58 HWT. Felton’s 
agreement can be terminated 
by a simple majority of Stanley 
Motta’s shareholders for gross 
negligence, willful misconduct 
or gross underperformance of 
its scope of work. 
 
Material Contracts

Stanley Motta is party to the 
following material contracts.

• Lease with Jamaican Agent 
Services Limited dated 
December 2016. This is a 
5-year lease by the Company 
of 49,880 sq. ft. of BPO/ICT 
space at 58 Half Way Tree 
Road. The lease commenced 
on January 1, 2017 in respect 
of Unit 3 (41,580 sq. ft.)  and 
on April 1, 2017 in relation 
to Unit 2 (8,300 sq. ft.). The 
Instrument of Lease contains 
an option to renew.

• Lease with Jamaican Agent 
Services Limited dated April 
3, 2018. This is a 5-year lease 
of 112,705 sq. ft. of BPO/ICT 
space in Unit 4 at 58 Half 
Way Tree Road. The lease 
commenced on May 1, 2018 
and contains an option to 
renew.
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• Lease with Transactions 
E-Pins Limited dated March 
28, 2018. This is a 3-year lease 
of a part of Unit 1 of BPO/ICT 
space at 58 Half Way Tree 
Road. This lease commenced 
on March 28, 2018 and 
contains an option to renew.

 Transactions E-Pins Limited 
and Stanley Motta are 
connected companies via 
their common, shareholder 
Musson. Musson is an indirect 
shareholder of Transactions 
E-Pins Limited.

• Lease with Symptai Consulting 
Limited dated November 1, 
2016. This is a 2-year lease by 
the Company of 4,556 sq. ft. 
of BPO/ICT space. The lease 
commenced on November 1, 
2016 and the lease property is 
located in a section of Unit 1. 
The lease agreement contains 
an option to renew.

• Loan agreement dated 
March 16, 2016 whereby 
the Development Bank of 
Jamaica Limited (‘DBJ’) loaned 
the Company US$5M for the 
purpose of constructing new 
buildings and reconfiguring 
existing buildings to create 
approximately 132,000 sq. ft. 
of ICT/BPO space at 58 Half 
Way Tree Road (the ‘US$5M 
Loan’). The US$5M Loan is 
secured by a mortgage over 
the real estate and other 
charges detailed below. This 
loan carries a 4.5% per annum 
rate of interest and the tenor 
is 20 years amortized over 18 
years and 20 months.

• There is a loan agreement 
between Stanley Motta as 
lender and Unity Capital as 

borrower dated November 
15, 2017 for a loan of 
J$27,686,000 for 10-year term 
with interest on principal of 
10% per annum. This loan is 
unsecured.

• Management contract 
between Stanley Motta and 
Felton Property Management 
Services Limited which shall 
become effective immediately 
upon the listing of the Ordinary 
Shares on the JSE, pursuant 
to which Felton will provide 
property, administration 
and accounting services for 
the ICT/BPO campus at 58 
Half Way Tree Road. Felton 
Property Management 
Services Limited is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Musson 
(Jamaica) Limited.

Unity Capital is a Party 
to the following Material 
Contracts.

• Lease dated June 22, 2018 
with General Accident 
Insurance Company Limited 
(‘General Accident’) as lessee, 
for part of the land registered 
at Volume 1128 Folio 126 of 
the Register Book of Titles 
being approximately 17, 380 
sq. ft. of office space at 58 
Half Way Tree Road. This 
is a 5-year lease effective 
February 1, 2018]. The 
lease contains an option to 
renew. General Accident and 
Unity Capital are connected 
companies as Musson is 
the majority shareholder of 
General Accident.

• Unity Capital issued a 
mortgage dated November 
25, 2015 to the then Jamaica 
National Building Society, 

now JN Bank (‘JN’) over its 
property at 58 Half Way Tree 
Road registered at Volume 
1128 Folio 126 of the Register 
Book of Titles to secure the 
repayment of a J$170M loan 
at an interest rate of 11.375% 
per annum (the ‘J$170M 
loan’). The mortgage was 
registered on November 27, 
2015 and is for a term of 16 
years and 11 months.

Licences
 

The following licences/ 
approvals have been issued in 
relation to the Company’s Free 
Zone status.

• The Jamaica Export Free 
Zones (Stanley Motta Limited) 
Order, 2015 issued under 
section 3 (1) of the Jamaica 
Export Free Zones Act (‘JEFZA’) 
to the Company as a Free 
Zone Promoter designating 
property described in that 
Order at 58 Half Way Tree 
Road as a Free Zone under 
the applicable legislation. 

• Notwithstanding the repeal 
of the JEFZA, the letter 
from the Jamaica Special 
Economic Zone Authority 
dated December 19, 2016 
confirms the Company’s 
right to continue to enjoy the 
fiscal benefits of the JEFZA 
under the Special Economic 
Zones Act, 2016 (“SEZ”. The 
Company will shortly apply to 
become a developer under 
the SEZ. This application will 
involve Special Economic 
Zone status being sought for 
all areas of 58 Half Way Tree 
Road where BPO activities are 
conducted.
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Trade Marks

“58 HWT” is a registered trade mark of Musson. Musson has assigned this trade 
mark to the Company and an application to record this assignment has been 
filed with the Jamaica Intellectual Property Office.

The Company has applied to the Jamaica Intellectual Property Office to register 
the logo to the right.

Insurance

Details on the insurance on the Properties are provided below. The insurer under all the following 
policies is General Accident Insurance Company Jamaica Limited.

Charges registered against the Company and Unity Capital and other Material 
Information

The following charges are registered against the Company in favour of the DBJ to secure the repayment 
of the US$5M loan.

The following charges are registered against Unity Capital in favour of JN to secure the repayment of 
J$170M

Proprietor Unit/Building Risk covered / 
Class

Coverage 
amount

Renewal Date

Stanley Motta Unit 1, 2 and 3 Fire & Allied 
Perils $250,000,000 March 29, 2019

Stanley Motta Unit 4 Contractors All 
Risk $581,862,215.21 May 15, 2019

Unity Capital Unit 5 Fire & Allied 
Perils $210,000,000 September 1, 

2018

Chargor Date of Creation or 
Registration

Instrument of Charge

Stanley Motta August 17, 2016 Mortgage

Stanley Motta March 7, 2016 Debenture

Stanley Motta March 7, 2016 Assignment of all-risk 
insurance policy

Stanley Motta March 7, 2016 Debt Service Reserve Account 
Agreement

Stanley Motta March 7, 2016 Assignment of Leases

Stanley Motta March 7, 2016 Security Interest over 
Equipment and Furnishings

Chargor Date of Creation or 
Registration

Instrument of Charge

Unity Capital November 25, 2015 Mortgage

Unity Capital November 25, 2015 Assignment of Lease 
Payments
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The titles to two of the parcels of land at 58 Half 
Way Tree Road contain restrictive covenants 
which state that such properties should only be 
used for residential purposes. The Company has 
instituted the legal procedure required to have 
these covenants amended.

Litigation

The Company is not involved in any litigation and 
the Directors are not aware of any pending or 
threatened material adverse claims against the 
Company.

Taxation

Stanley Motta is a Free Zone Promoter and 58 
Half Way Tree Road is a designated Free Zone 
under the Jamaica Export Free Zones (Stanley 
Motta Limited) Order, 2015 issued under section 
3 (1) of JEFZA. Accordingly, Stanley Motta is 
exempt from corporate income tax on the rental 
income of Free Zone property at 58 Half Way 
Tree Road. As a result of the application under 

the SEZ mentioned above, we expect that in 
the near future Stanley Motta will no longer 
be governed by the JEFZA but will instead be 
developer under the SEZ. Under the SEZ Stanley 
Motta will continue to be exempt from corporate 
income tax on its rental income of property at 58 
Half Way Tree Road, but its other income, if any, 
will be taxable at a corporate income tax rate of 
12.5%.

Unity Capital is incorporated under the 
International Business Companies Act Cap 12.14 
of the laws of St. Lucia. Notwithstanding, it is a 
registered taxpayer in Jamaica and its income is 
taxable at a corporate income tax rate of 25% 
less applicable deductions and credits.

Dividends received by a shareholder of the 
Company may or may not be subject to tax in the 
country where the shareholder is resident. Each 
prospective shareholder should consult with an 
independent advisor as to the rate of tax(es) that 
is applicable to him/her.

Musson (Jamaica) 
Limited

100%

Unit 5 

47.3%

<0.01% 52.7%

100%

Harbour Street 
Properties LimitedOther investors

Stanley Motta 
Limited

Unity Capital 
Limited

Units 1, 2, 3, 4

Stanley Motta’s Organization Structure
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Share Capital Structure
The share capital of the Company is divided as follows.

Class Authorised

Ordinary Shares 757,870,478

Preference Shares 11,000  

The issued share capital of the Company is as follows.

Issued Ordinary Shares 757,828,490

Issued Preference Shares 10,830

Shareholdings in the Company as at the date of this Prospectus are as 
follows:

Ordinary Shares

Category of Shareholder Number of type of shares Percentage 

Musson (Jamaica) Limited 358,229,862 47.27% of issued shares

Harbour Street Properties Limited 399,589,000 52.73% of issued shares

Total Selling Shareholders 757,818,862 > 99.99% of issued shares

Other Shareholders 9,628 < 0.01% of issued shares

6.0% Cumulative Preference Shares

Category of Shareholder Number of type of shares Percentage 

Musson 1,510 13.94% of issued shares

Other Shareholders 9,320 86.06% of issued shares

Shareholdings of Ordinary Shares in the event the Invitation is fully 
subscribed by Applicants will be as follows.

Category of Shareholder Number of type of shares Percentage 

General Public 529,970,315 69.93% of issued shares

The Reserved Share Applicant(s) 227,348,547 30.00% of issued shares

Directors 500,000 0.066% of issued shares

Other Shareholders 9,628 <0.01% of issued shares

Shareholdings of Preference Shares will be unchanged following the Invitation.
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The Dividend Policy
If the Shares are admitted to listing on the Main Market of the JSE, the Board expects to distribute 
approximately 90% of its after-tax earnings to the shareholders in the form of cash dividends. The 
Board may change this dividend policy from time-to-time as a result of, inter alia, changes in the return-
on-equity of the Company, its liquidity needs or material changes in tax policy affecting the business.
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Board of
Directors

1. Patricia
 Sutherland

2. Minna
 Israel

3. Jennifer
 Scott

4. Sandra
 Glasgow

5. Melanie
 Subratie 

6. Sharon
 Donaldson
 
7. Andrea
 Kinach
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Board of Directors
and Key Personnel of
Management Company

Melanie Subratie
DIRECTOR

Sandra Glasgow
DIRECTOR

Melanie Subratie is the Chairman of the Company and also the Deputy 
Chairman of General Accident and Musson (Jamaica) Limited.

Mrs. Subratie holds a B.Sc. (Hons) from the London School of Economics.  
She began her career in the United Kingdom in the Financial Services 
Division of Deloitte &Touche and also worked for startup political newswire 
service De Havilland prior to returning to Jamaica in 2002 and joining the 
Musson Board at that time with responsibility for Business Development, 
and specifically Managing Director of Productive Business Solutions Ltd.

Sandra Glasgow, Founder and Managing Director of BizTactics Limited. 
She is member of the Boards of Directors of NCB Financial Group Limited, 
National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited, Medical Disposables and 
Supplies Limited, The Multicare Youth Foundation, DRT Communications 
Limited and LoanCirrus Limited.  She chairs the boards of eMedia 
Interactive Group Limited, iCreate Limited, the National Crime Prevention 
Fund (Crime Stop), the SMART Retirement Fund and SiFi Jamaica Limited. 
She is a Co-Founder of FirstAngelsJA.
 
Sandra spent 20 years at the University of Technology, Jamaica, where, 
among other achievements, she was Director of the Entrepreneurial 
Centre and the Founder of the Technology Innovation Centre, Jamaica’s 
first technology business incubator.  She is a former CEO of The Private 
Sector Organisation of Jamaica.
 
She has a Bachelor of Science Degree in Applied Zoology and Applied 
Botany and a MBA from The UWI, Mona. She is certified as a Director; a 
Trainer of Trainers in Corporate Governance Board Leadership and a 
Trainer of Trainers in Business Ethics. She was Jamaica’s Eisenhower Fellow 
in 2000.
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Minna Israel
DIRECTOR

Patricia Sutherland
DIRECTOR

Patricia Sutherland has over 25 years’ experience in management, 
operations and strategic planning in financial services and manufacturing.

She joined JMMB in 1994 as Operations and Human Resources Manager, 
and in 1999, transitioned to the role of Consultant with JMMB as Project 
Manager for various initiatives, including JMMB Initial Public Offering and the 
acquisition of several of its subsidiaries. She currently chairs the JMMB Joan 
Duncan Foundation and sits on the JMMB Bank Board.

She has worked with the now ICD Group Limited as Operations Manager at 
Butterkist Limited and as General Manager at HoFAB Limited.

As an active Nation Builder, she has served as Chair of the PSOJ Education 
Committee, and as a director on the boards of several Public Bodies, 
including the Jamaica Social Investment Fund, EGov Ltd. and the Adoption 
Board of Jamaica. She is a Past President of the Guild of Graduates (UWI 
Mona) and former member of the University Council and several other 
management committees of the University. 

She has Level 1 of the Chartered Financial Analyst course and a core 
competencies course with the Society for Organisation Learning. 

She speaks French and holds a B.Sc. in Pure and Applied Chemistry from 
The UWI.

Minna Israel, a former banker with over thirty years of corporate, commercial 
and retail banking experience, Minna Israel is a Special Advisor to the Vice-
Chancellor of The University of the West Indies, on Resource Development, 
with focus on philanthropy.

Having served as the President & Country Head of RBC Royal Bank Jamaica 
for 4 years, as the Managing Director of Scotiabank (Bahamas) Limited 
for 3 years, and a past-President of the Jamaica Bankers’ Association, her 
performance and contribution to banking and the wider society made 
her the recipient of a number of local, regional and international awards, 
including the UWI Honorary Doctor of Laws degree, in November, 2011.

She currently serves as Director on a number of Boards including First 
Global Bank, Cari-Med Ltd, RJRGleaner Communications Group, and JPSCo 
Ltd.  

Minna holds an MBA from the Richard Ivey School of Business at the 
Western University, Ontario, Canada, and a BSc Degree in Management 
Studies from The University of the West Indies.
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Board of Directors
and Key Personnel of
Management Company

Andrea Kinach
DIRECTOR

Jennifer Scott
DIRECTOR

Andrea was first admitted to practice as a Solicitor in the United Kingdom 
in 2000 and in 2008 she migrated to Jamaica, re-qualified as an Attorney-
at-Law and joined Patterson, Mair and Hamilton. She was admitted as a 
Partner in 2011. 

Andrea holds a B.A. in Economics from Trinity College, University of Toronto 
as well as an LL.B (First Class), from the University of Kent, Canterbury, 
England.  

In Jamaica Andrea maintains a diverse practice with focus on financial 
services, corporate finance, and general commercial work.

Jennifer Scott is a Non-Executive Director of the Board. She holds a B.Sc. 
(Hons.) in Psychology from the Newcastle University, United Kingdom.  She 
later gained a Graduate Diploma in Legal Studies from Keele University 
and the Certificate of Legal Practice from College of Law, London. She was 
admitted Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales.

Jennifer graduated from The Norman Manley Law School in 2003 and was 
admitted as an Attorney-at-Law in Jamaica. She practices Law at Clinton 
Hart & Co. Attorneys-at-law where she works in the areas of Securities, 
Trusts, Commercial and Corporate Law Estates.

Currently, she serves as a Non-Executive Director and Member of the 
Conduct Committee at General Accident Insurance Company Limited, 
Director and Member of the Investment Committee at Eppley Limited as 
well as Director and Chair of Human Resources and Compliance Committee 
for Environmental Foundation of Jamaica (EFJ)

She has held directorship for Jamaica Protected Areas Trust and Silver Star 
Motors Limited.
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Sharon Donaldson
DIRECTOR

Sharon Donaldson ACCA, MBA (Finance)
LLB (Hons.) Attorney-at-Law
Managing Director – General Accident Insurance Company (Ja.) Limited.
 
Ms. Donaldson has been responsible for driving the recent growth and 
overseeing the prudent underwriting and risk management strategy of 
General Accident. She has been with the company for over 20 years, first 
as Financial Controller before becoming Managing Director in 2001.  In 
addition to her responsibilities at the company Ms. Donaldson serves as a 
Director of Musson (Ja.) Ltd., Eppley Limited and Stanley Motta Ltd.

She is a Director and mentor of 138 Student Living Limited, Jamaica 
Environment Trust, and Paramount Trading Jamaica Limited and a member 
of the Jamaica Anti-Doping Commission. Ms. Donaldson holds the position 
of Treasurer on the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Jamaica (ICAJ) and heads the committee of Professional Accountants in 
Business (PAIB).

Sharon is an avid sports fan, plays tennis and is a past president of Netball 
Jamaica.
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Board of Directors
and Key Personnel of
Management Company

Clifton Morgan
KEY PERSONNEL OF MANAGEMENT 
COMPANY

Tina Smart
KEY PERSONNEL OF MANAGEMENT
COMPANY

Clifton Morgan has over 25 years of experience as a Financial Controller. 
A Chartered Accountant by profession, Clifton initially worked as Senior 
Internal Auditor of ICWI Group from 1986 to 1993 after which he became 
the Financial Controller of HiTek Software Engineering.  He joined Facey 
Commodity in 1996 working in various capacities from Assistant General 
Manager of Finance, to Financial Controller to Facey Group Treasury 
Manager.  Clifton is a graduate of UWI with a BSc (Management Studies).

Tina is the former personal assistant to Desmond Blades, founder and 
chairman of Musson Group.

For 26 years, she has worked in multiple roles in the Musson Group, at 
various times managing ACME Spice, Ketchup Plant, Musson Packaging, 
TGG Pharmacy, as well as all property management. She was HR and 
administrative manager with responsibilities for insurance, maintaining 
staff files, and motor vehicle fleet.
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Directors’ and Managers’ shareholding and interests

If all of the shares the subject of the Invitation are purchased, the Reserved Share Applicant(s) will own 
227,348,547 Ordinary Shares.

Musson also holds 1,510 Preference Shares in the Company. The Board is not aware of any plans for 
that shareholding to change after the close of the Invitation.

*Melanie Subratie has beneficial interests in Musson and Harbour Street Properties which collectively 
hold 757,818,862 Ordinary Shares at the date of the issue of this Prospectus. If all of the Shares the 
subject of the Invitation are purchased, Caona Investments Limited will hold 189,457,122 Ordinary 
Shares. Melanie Subratie has a beneficial interest in Caona Investments Limited.

**Jennifer Scott is the wife of Paul Scott. Paul Scott has beneficial interests in Musson and Harbour 
Street Properties. If all of the Shares the subject of the Invitation are purchased, Perseverance Limited 
will hold, 151,565,698 Ordinary Shares. Jennifer Scott has a beneficial interest in Perseverance Limited.

Corporate Governance and Accountability

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee include a majority of the independent non-executive 
Directors. The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are Sharon Donaldson, Minna Israel and 
Andrea Kinach.

Directors’ Fees and Emoluments

The Directors’ shall receive fees in accordance with the Articles, including for reimbursement of 
reasonable fees and expenses and attendance at Board and Committee meetings.

For the year ended December 31, 2017 the total compensation paid to the Directors’ was $6,822,000.00 
as stated in the audited financial statements

Name of Director /
Management Personnel

Number of Shares at issue 
of Prospectus

Number of Shares if 
Invitation taken up in full

Melanie Subratie None* None*

Jennifer Scott None** None**

Sandra Glasgow None

Minna Israel None

Patricia Sutherland None Up to 500,000 in total

Sharon Donaldson None

Andrea Kinach None

Clifton Morgan None None

Tina Smart None None
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Management Discussion
and Analysis
Audited Annual Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income

In 2017, Stanley Motta completed the renovation and construction of Units 1, 2 and 3, revalued these 
investment properties, purchased its wholly-owned subsidiary Unity Capital and began the construction 
of Unit 4.

The Company generated consolidated revenue of $72.3 million representing 7 months of rental 
income from Units 1, 2 and 3 and one month of rental income from Unit 5. . Unity Capital owns Unit 
5 and Unity Capital was acquired by Stanley Motta in November 2017. Unity Capital is a St. Lucia 
International Business Corporation which is now wholly-owned by Stanley Motta. Unity Capital has 
no other operations other than owning Unit 5. Also, no rental income from Unit 4 was recognized in 
2017 since it was under construction for the entire period. Stanley Motta also generated $1.5 million of 
other income which mostly consisted of exchange gains. The Company’s consolidated administrative 
expenses and finance costs were $56.2 million and $7.5 million, respectively.

Following the completion of Units 1, 2 and 3 Stanley Motta, in accordance with its accounting policy for 
investment properties, received an independent appraisal which resulted in fair value gains of $843.6 
million. This revaluation gain resulted largely due to the difference between actual construction costs 
including cost of land and the fair value of the completed buildings. Upon the completion of Unit 4, it will 
also be carried at fair value and not actual construction cost.. This will also likely result in an additional 
revaluation gain. Future revaluation gains or losses will reflect the annual increases or decreases in the 
value of Stanley Motta’s investment properties respectively based on independent external valuations.   

Based on its rental and other income, administrative expenses, finance costs and the revaluation gains 
on its investment properties, the Company produced a consolidated profit before tax of $853.67million 
and consolidated net profit of $853.6 million in 2017.
 
Including fair value gains on its available-for-sale investments and currency transaction differences 
associated with its acquisition of Unity Capital, Stanley Motta produced total comprehensive income of 
$845.5 million in 2017.

In 2016, the Company was in the preliminary phase of the 58 HWT development and was engaged 
in planning, permitting the site, securing tenants and executing the renovation and construction of 
Units 1, 2, and 3. As a result it did not yet produce rental income but did incur modest administrative 
expenses and finance costs and produced a net loss of $7.0 million and a negative total comprehensive 
income of $7.9 million.
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From 2013 to 2015, Stanley Motta was largely dormant.  As a result, it generated negligible revenue 
incurred net losses of less than $2 million in 2013 and 2015 and a de minimis net profit in 2014. 
Additional information on the financial performance of Stanley Motta in the preceding 5 years can be 
found in the summary table below.

Statement of Financial Position

Stanley Motta’s assets consist mainly of the investment properties it owns directly and through its 
wholly-owned subsidiary Unity Capital. These investment properties collectively form 58 HWT.
 
As of December 31, 2017 the fair value of Stanley Motta’s consolidated investment properties was 
$2.35 billion. This consists of Units 1, 2, 3 which Stanley Motta owns directly and the General Accident 
building which Stanley Motta owns indirectly through Unity Capital. These properties are recorded at 
their fair value as determined by independent appraisals.
 
Stanley Motta financed the acquisition and development of its lands and buildings mostly through 
loans from financial institutions and to a lesser extent loans from its holding company. As of December 
31, 2017, Stanley Motta owed $31.1 million to its affiliates and $713.9 million to financial institutions 
in the form of two mortgages secured by various properties at 58 HWT which it either owns directly or 
through Unity Capital.

Stanley Motta’s consolidated shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2017 was $1.61 billion considering 
the value of its investment properties and other assets, its mortgages and loans to its holding company 
and its net current liabilities.
 
As of December 31, 2017 Unit 4 was reflected on Stanley Motta’s consolidated statement of financial 
position as Development Land as it was approved for building and under construction valued at $412.5 
million .When Unit 4 is completed Stanley Motta will carry it at its fair value in accordance with its 
accounting policy for investment properties as it does all its other completed buildings including Unit 
1, 2 and 3 and the General Accident building. 

The Projected Valuation obtained from an independent appraiser, using the income capitalization 
approach, for  Unit 4 at completion isUS$21.3 million or approximately $2.63 billion using rates of 
exchange as at December 31, 2017 and $2.79 billion using the weighted average selling rate according 
to the Bank of Jamaica as of June 19, 2018

See pages 65 - 69 for financial summary for the last 5 years.
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SECTION 14

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue  72,257  -    -    30  164 

Direct expenses  -    -    -    (73)  (990)

Gross Profit / (Loss)  72,257  -    -    (43)  (826)

Other operating income  1,531  475  242  657  201 

Administrative expenses  (56,218)  (5,865)  (2,095)  (467)  (535)

Operating profit / (Loss)  17,570  (5,390)  (1,853)  147  (1,160)

Finance cost  (7,453)  (1,534)  -    -    -   

Revaluation gain on investment property  843,554  -  -  -  -

Profit / (Loss) before taxation  853,671  (6,924)  (1,853)  147  (1,160)

Taxation  (60)  (60)  -    -    -   

Net profit / (Loss)  853,611  (6,984)  (1,853)  147  (1,160)

Other comprehensive income -

Currency translation difference on net 
asset of foreign subsidiary  (8,275)  -  -  -  -

Fair value gain / (loss) on available-for-
sale investments  212  (937)  1,783  (604)  (907)

 (8,063)  (937)  1,783  604  (907)

Total comprehensive income  845,548  (7,921)  (70)  (457)  (2,067)

Financial Summary for the Last 5 Years
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Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalent  2,234  68,989  682  423  577 

Taxation recoverable  202  154  87  51  - 

Receivables  43,755  7,458  425  527  418 

Inventory  937  1,120  -  -  - 

Investments  3,779  3,567  4,504  2,721  3,325 

Investment property  2,350,068  399,398  -  -  - 

Property, plant and equipment  22,263  484  9,620  669  836 

Due from related party  -  -  -  -  - 

Total assets  2,423,238  481,170  15,318  4,391  5,156 

LIABILITIES

Due to related parties  38,093  29,062  14,749  4,052  4,292 

Payables  66,024  20,753  1,741  1,441  1,509 

Borrowings  713,909  197,471  -  -  - 

Related party loan  -  203,059  -  -  - 

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

Total liabilities  818,026  450,345  16,490  5,493  5,801 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital  530,809  40,349  390  390  390 

Capital reserve  238,379  -  41  41  41 

Fair value reserve  3,776  3,564  4,501  2,718  3,322 

Cumulative translation reserve  (8,275) - - - -

Retained earnings/(accumulative deficit)  840,523  (13,088)  (6,104)  (4,251)  (4,398)

Total shareholders' equity  1,605,212  30,825  (1,172)  (1,102)  (645)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  2,423,238  481,170  15,318  4,391  5,156 

66STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars)

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net Profit / (Loss) for the year  853,611  (6,984)  (1,853)  147  (1,160)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation  1,466  134  134  167  210 

Dividend income  (313)  (423)  (242)  (257)  (201)

Capital reserve transfer -  (41) - - -

Exchange gain/(losses) on foreign 
currency balances  (16,191)  1,534  -    (38)  -   

Interest income  (374) (11)    -    -    -   

Interest expense 7,035 - - - -

Revaluation  gain  (843,554)  -    -    -    -   

Taxation  60  60  -    -    -   

 1,741  (5,731)  (1,961)  19  (1,151)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Inventories  183  (1,120)  -    -    -   

Receivables  (34,265)  (7,033)  102  (6)  326 

Holding company  (200,852)  217,372  10,697  (240)  230 

Payables  34,162  19,012  300  (68)  296 

Interest received  -    -    -    -    -   

Due from related parties  (22,132)  -    -    -    -   

 (221,162)  222,500  9,138  (295)  (299)

Interest paid  -    -    -    -    -   

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities  (221,162)  222,500  9,138  (295)  (299)

Financial Summary for the Last 5 Years
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Property, plant and equipment  (10,207)  (83)  (9,085) - -

Purchase of investment property  (547,748)  (390,313) - - -

Acquisition of subsidary, net of cash  (151,765) - - - -

Dividend received  313  423  242  103  201 

Taxation paid  (107)  (127)  (36)  -    -   

Interest received  374  11    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -    -   

Cash (used in) / provided by investing 
activities  (709,140)  (390,089)  (8,879)  103  201 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from long-term loan  374,162  197,471  -    -    -   

Proceeds from the issue of shares  490,460  39,959  -    -    -   

Interest paid  (1,134)    -    -    -    -   

Net cash provided by financing activities  863,488  237,430  -    -    -   

(Decrease)/ Increase in net cash balances  (66,814)  69,841  259  (192)  (98)

Effects of foreign exchange rates changes 
on cash and cash equivalents  59    (1,534)  -    38  -   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
of year  68,989  682  423  577  675 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END 
OF THE YEAR  2,234  68,989  682  423  577 

Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Cash Flows cont’d
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Financial Summary for the Last 5 Years

Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars)

Share 
Capital

Capital 
Reserve

Fair 
Value 

Reserve

Cumulative
Translation 

Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 31 December 2015 390 41 4,501 - (6,104) (1,172)

Net loss for the year  -    -    -   - (6,984)  (6,984)

Other comprehensive income  -    -    (937) - - (937)

Capital reserve transfer -  (41) - - -  (41)

Transactions with owners of the 
company: - - - - - -

Issue of shares  39,959  -    -   -  -    39,959 

Balance at 31 December 2016  40,349  -    3,564 -  (13,088)  30,825 

Net profit for the year -  -    -   -  853,611  853,611 

Other comprehensive income - -  212 - - 212

Capital reserve on acquisition - 238,379 - - -  238,379   

Currency translation difference on 
net asset of foreign subsidiary - - -  (8,275) - (8,275)

Transactions with owners of the 
company:  -   -  -   -  -   -

Issue of shares  490,460  -    -   -  -    490,460 

Balance at 31 December 2017  530,809  238,379  3,776 (8,275)  840,523  1,605,212 
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Unaudited Quarterly Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income

In the first quarter of 2018, Stanley Motta operated its fully completed investment properties including 
Unit 1, 2 and 3 and the General Accident building and continued the construction of Unit 4. It recorded 
consolidated revenue of $41.2 million in rental income, $15.9 million of administrative expenses and 
$14.5 million of finance costs to produce a profit before tax and net profit of $10.7 million for the 
quarter.

Statement of Financial Position

During the quarter Stanley Motta continued to incur capital expenditures to complete the construction 
of Unit 4 resulting in a net increase in its investment properties of $236.9 million. Units 1, 2, 3 and the 
General Accident continued to be recorded at the same fair value as at December 31, 2017.

The Company ended the quarter with $76.3 million of consolidated net current assets and $60.3 million 
in cash.

To finance the continued construction of Unit 4, borrowings increased by $107.6 million to $821.5 
million.

Considering Stanley Motta’s investment properties, net current assets and other assets, and its 
borrowings, the Company’s consolidated total shareholders’ equity increased by $302.4 million to 
$1.91 billion
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Members of Stanley Motta Limited 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements  
 
Our opinion  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the stand-alone financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Stanley Motta Limited (the Company) and its 
subsidiary (together ‘the Group’) and the stand-alone financial position of the Company as at 31 December 
2017, and of their consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and their consolidated and stand-
alone cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. 
 
What we have audited 

Stanley Motta Limited’s consolidated and stand-alone financial statements comprise: 

 The consolidated and stand-alone statements of financial position as at 31 December 2017; 
 The consolidated and stand-alone statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 
 The consolidated and stand-alone statements of changes in equity for the year then ended; 
 The consolidated and stand-alone statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and 
 The notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
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Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
and stand-alone financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and with the 
requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and stand-alone financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group, the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and Company’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated and stand-alone financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s internal control.  

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of 
those records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alone financial statements are in 
agreement therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the 
manner so required. 
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Stanley Motta Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

   2017 2016 
 Note  $'000   $'000   
Revenue   72,257 - 

Other operating income 7  1,531 475 

Administrative expenses 8  (56,218) (5,865) 

Operating Profit/(Loss)   17,570 (5,390) 

Finance cost 10  (7,453) (1,534) 

Revaluation gain on investment property 14  843,554 - 

Profit/(Loss) before Taxation   853,671 (6,924) 

Taxation 11  (60) (60) 

Net Profit/(Loss)   853,611 (6,984) 

Other Comprehensive Income      

Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments  15  212 (937) 

Currency translation differences on net assets of foreign subsidiary   (8,275) - 

   (8,063) (937) 
Total Comprehensive Income   845,548 (7,921) 

     

Earning per stock unit for profit attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company during the year 12  1.99 (0.03) 

 

 

 

 

 

Stanley Motta Limited
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 
 
 

 

    Note  
2017 
$'000    

2016 
$'000     

Non-Current Assets     
 Property, plant and equipment 13  22,263 484 

Investment property 14  2,350,068 399,398 
 Investments 15  3,779 3,567 
   2,376,110 403,449 
Current Assets     

Inventories   937 1,120 
Receivables  18  43,755 7,458 
Taxation recoverable   202 154 

Cash and cash equivalents 19  2,234 68,989 
   47,128 77,721 
Current Liabilities     

  Payables 20  66,024 20,753 
Due to parent company 25  31,269 29,062 
Due to other related parties 25  6,824 - 
Current portion of borrowings 27  39,634 - 

   143,751 49,815 
Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets   (96,623) 27,906 
 
 

  2,279,487 431,355 
Shareholders’ Equity     

Share capital 21  530,809 40,349 
Fair value reserve 22  3,776 3,564 
Capital reserve 23  238,379 - 
Cumulative translation reserve 24  (8,275) - 
Retained earnings/(accumulated deficit)   840,523 (13,088) 
   1,605,212 30,825 

Non-Current Liabilities     
Borrowings 27  674,275 197,471 
Parent company 25  - 203,059 
   674,275 400,530 

 
 

  2,279,487 431,355 

Stanley Motta Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 

 
 

Share 
Capital 

Fair Value 
Reserve 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
Cumulative 
Translation 

Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings/ 

(Accumulated 
Deficit) Total 

 Note $'000  $'000     $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Balance at 31 December 2015  390 4,501 41 - (6,104) (1,172) 

Net loss for the year  - - - - (6,984) (6,984) 

Other comprehensive income        
Fair value gains on available-for-

sale investments   - (937) - - - (937) 

Total comprehensive income  - (937) - - (6,984) (7,921) 

Capital reserve transfer  - - (41) - - (41) 

Transactions with owners of the 
company: 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Issue of shares 21 39,959 - - - - 39,959 

Balance at 31 December 2016  40,349 3,564 - - (13,088) 30,825 

Net profit for the year  - - - - 853,611 853,611 
Other comprehensive income        
Fair value gains on available-for-

sale investments   - 212 - - - 212 
Currency translation differences 

on net assets of foreign 
subsidiary 6 - - - (8,275) - (8,275) 

Total comprehensive income  - 212 - (8,275) 853,611 845,548 

Capital reserve on acquisition 23 - - 238,379 - - 238,379 

Transactions with owners of the 
company: 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Issue of shares 21 490,460 - - - - 490,460 

Balance at 31 December 2017  530,809 3,776 238,379 (8,275) 840,523 1,605,212 

 

 

Stanley Motta Limited
Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

   2017 2016 
 Note  $'000   $'000   
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
 Net profit/(loss) for the year   853,611  (6,984) 
 Adjusted for:      

Taxation 11  60  60 
Depreciation 13  1,466  134 
Dividend Income 6  (313)  (423) 
Interest income   (374)  (11) 
Interest expense   7,035  - 
-Capital reserve transfer   -  (41) 
Revaluation gain on investment property 14  (843,554)  - 
Exchange losses on foreign currency balances   (16,191)  1,534 

   1,740  (5,731) 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities      

Inventories   183  (1,120) 
Receivables   (34,265)  (7,033) 
Parent company   (200,852)  217,372 
Due to other related parties   (22,132)  - 
Payables   34,164  19,012 
Cash (used in)/provided by operating activities   (221,162)  222,500 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13  (10,207)  (83) 
Additions to investment property 14  (547,748)  (390,313) 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash 28  (151,765)  - 
Dividend received   313  423 
Interest received   374  11 
Taxation paid   (107)  (127) 
Cash used in investing activities   (709,140)  (390,089) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Proceeds from long-term loan (net)   374,162  197,471 
Proceeds from the issue of shares 21  490,460  39,959 
Interest paid   (1,134)  - 
Cash provided by financing activities   863,488  237,430 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   59  (1,534) 
(Decrease)/increase in net cash and cash equivalents   (66,755)  68,307 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   68,989  682 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 19  2,234  68,989 

Reconciliation of movement in borrowings (see note 27 (a))  

 

Stanley Motta Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

   2017 2016 
 Note  $'000   $'000   
Revenue   69,814 - 

Other operating income 7  1,531 475 

Administrative expenses 8  (54,787) (5,865) 

Operating Profit/(Loss)   16,558 (5,390) 

Finance cost 10  (5,937) (1,534) 

Revaluation gain on investment property   843,554 - 

Profit/(Loss) before Taxation   854,175 (6,924) 

Taxation 11  (60) (60) 

Net Profit/(Loss)   854,115 (6,984) 

Other Comprehensive Income      

Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments  14  212 (937) 
Total Comprehensive Income   854,327 (7,921) 

 

Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited  
Statement of Financial Position 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

       

    Note  
2017 
$'000    

2016 
$'000    

Non-Current Assets     
 Property, plant and equipment 13  8,714 484 

Investment property 14  1,790,700 399,398 
 Investments 15  3,779 3,567 

Loan and note receivable  16  28,035 - 
Investment in subsidiary 17  151,765 - 

   1,982,993 403,449 
Current Assets     

Inventory   937 1,120 
Receivables  18  40,647 7,458 
Taxation recoverable   202 154 

Cash and cash equivalents 19  2,234 68,989 
   44,020 77,721 
Current Liabilities     

  Payables 20  63,343 20,753 
Due to parent company 25  31,269 29,062 
Current portion of borrowing 27  35,781 - 

   130,393 49,815 
Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets   (86,373) 27,906 
 
 

  1,896,620 431,355 
Shareholders’ Equity     

Share capital 21  530,809 40,349 
Fair value reserve 22  3,776 3,564 
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)   841,027 (13,088) 
   1,375,612 30,825 

Non-Current Liabilities     
Borrowing 27  521,008 197,471 
Parent company 25  - 203,059 
   521,008 400,530 

   1,892,620 431,355 
     

Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited  
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

 

 

 
 

Share 
Capital 

Fair 
Value 

Reserve 
Capital 

Reserve 

(Accumulated 
Deficit)/ 

Retained 
Earnings Total 

 Note $'000  $'000     $'000  $'000  $'000 
Balance at 31 December 2015  390 4,501 41 (6,104) (1,172) 
Net loss for the year  - - - (6,984) (6,984) 
Other comprehensive income       
Fair value losses on available-for-sale 

investments 
 

- (937) - - (937) 
Total comprehensive income  - (937) - (6,984) (7,921) 
Capital reserve transfer  - - (41) - (41) 
Transactions with owners of the company:       

Issue of shares 21 39,959 - - - 39,959 
Balance at 31 December 2016  40,349 3,564 - (13,088) 30,825 
Net profit for the year  - - - 854,115 854,115 
Other comprehensive income       
Fair value gains on available-for-sale 

investments  - 212 - - 212 
Total comprehensive income  - 212 - 854,115 854,327 
Transactions with owners of the company:       

Issue of shares 21 490,460 - - - 490,460 

Balance at 31 December 2017  530,809 3,776 - 841,027 1,375,612 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Change in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Stanley Motta Limited  
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

   2017 2016 
 Note  $'000   $'000   
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
 Net profit/(loss) for the year   854,115  (6,984) 
 Adjusted for:      

Taxation 11  60  60 
Depreciation 13  1,342  134 
Dividend Income  (313)  (423) 
Interest income  (374)  (11) 
Interest expense  5,901  - 
Capital reserve transfer  -  (41) 
Exchange gain on property revaluation 4  (843,554)  - 
Exchange losses on foreign currency balances   (15,198)  1,534 

   1,979  (5,731) 
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities      

Inventories   183  (1,120) 
Receivables   (33,189)  (7,033) 
Parent company   (200,852)  217,372 
Payables   36,630  19,012 
Cash (used in)/provided by operating activities   (195,249)  222,500 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13  (9,572)  (83) 
Additions to investment property 14  (547,748)  (390,313) 
Loan receivable   (28,035)  - 
Investment in subsidiary 17  (151,765)  - 
Dividend received   313  423 
Interest received   374  11 
Taxation paid   (107)  (127) 
Cash used in investing activities   (736,540)  (390,089) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Proceeds from long-term loan   374,515  197,471 
Proceeds from the issue of shares 21  490,460  39,959 
Cash provided by financing activities   864,975  237,430 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   59  (1,534) 
(Decrease)/increase in net cash and cash equivalents   (66,755)  68,307 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   68,989  682 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 19  2,234  68,989 

      

Reconciliation of movement in borrowings (see note 27 (a))       

Stanley Motta Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

82STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Page 9  

Stanley Motta Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

1. Identification and Principal Activity 
 

Stanley Motta Limited, (the Company) is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.  The 
registered office of the Company is located at 58 Halfway Tree Road, Kingston 10, Jamaica.  The Company is a 97 
per cent subsidiary of Musson (Jamaica) Limited, which is also incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.   
 
In November 2017, as a part of group capital reorganization exercise by Musson (Jamaica) Limited, the 
Company acquired 100% of the shares of Unity Capital Incorporated resulting in this fellow subsidiary becoming 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (Note 17). 
 
These financial statements present the results of operations and financial position of the Company and its 
subsidiary, which are collectively referred to as “the Group 
The principal activity of the Group is property rental.  
 

2.   Statement of Compliance 
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financing Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and IFRS interpretation committee applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.  

   
3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under this historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of available-for-sale securities and investment property. The principal accounting policies applied 
in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to 
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
(a) Basis of preparation  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 5. 
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3.   Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective during the current period 

 Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that 
became effective during the current financial reporting period. The Group has assessed the relevance of all 
such new standards, interpretations and amendments, and concluded that the following are relevant to its 
operations. 
 
 Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2017). The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is measured 
at fair value and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base. They also clarify certain other aspects of 
accounting for deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets are assessed in combination with other 
deferred tax assets where the tax law does not restrict the source of taxable profits against which 
particular types of deferred tax assets can be recovered. Where restrictions apply, deferred tax assets 
are assessed in combination only with other deferred tax assets of the same type. The amendment also 
clarifies that tax deductions resulting from the reversal of deferred tax assets are excluded from the 
estimated future taxable profit that is used to evaluate the recoverability of those assets. The adoption 
of this amendment did not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

 
 Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash flows’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2017). The amendment introduces an additional disclosure that will enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The amendment is part of the 
IASB’s Disclosure Initiative, which continues to explore how financial statement disclosure can be 
improved. An entity is required to disclose information that will allow users to understand changes in 
liabilities arising from financing activities. This includes changes arising from cash flows, such as 
drawdowns and repayments of borrowings; and non-cash changes, such as acquisitions, disposals and 
unrealised exchange differences.  The adoption of this amendments has resulting in additional disclosures 
in these financial statements, (note 27 c).  

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective  
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been issued which are mandatory for the Group’s accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but were not effective at date of the statement of financial 
position, and which the Group has not early adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards, interpretations and amendments, has determined that the following may be relevant to its 
operations, and has concluded as follows: 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 
   (a)   Basis of preparation (continued) 

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 
(continued) 
 
 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments part 1: Classification and measurement (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018). Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement 
categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s 
business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
instrument. 

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both the 
objective  of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and 
the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and interest (that is, it has only 
‘basic loan features’). All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held 
for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an 
irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value 
gains and losses through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no 
recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return 
on investment.   

Entities with financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss recognise changes in the 
fair value due to changes in the liability’s credit risk directly in other comprehensive income (OCI). 
There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI to profit or loss, but accumulated gains or 
losses may be transferred within equity.  

 
While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2018, earlier adoption is permitted for financial 
assets without adopting the requirements for financial liabilities. The Group is currently assessing the 
impacts of the future adoption of this standard on its operations. 

 
 IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, (effective for the periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2018). The new standard introduces the core principle that revenue must be recognised when 
the goods or services are transferred to the customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or 
services that are distinct must be separately recognised, and any discounts or rebates on the contract 
price must generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies for any reason, 
minimum amounts must be recognised if they are not at significant risk of reversal. Costs incurred to 
secure contracts with customers have to be capitalised and amortised over the period when the benefits of 
the contract are consumed. The Group is currently assessing the impacts of the future adoption of this 
standard on its operations. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 
   (a)   Basis of preparation (continued) 

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 
(continued) 

 
 IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier 

application permitted if IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, is also applied). This standard 
replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction 
between a finance lease (on the statement of financial position) and an operating lease (off statement of 
financial position). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease 
payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The standard includes an optional 
exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; however, this exemption can only 
be applied by lessees. For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. The Group is currently 
assessing the impacts of the future adoption of this standard on its operations. 

 
 IFRIC 22,’ Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’, (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 
transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The 
interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for situations 
where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice.  The 
Group does not expect any significant impact on its financial statements arising from the future 
adoption of the interpretation. 

 
 IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019).  This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 
12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The IFRS IC had 
clarified previously that IAS 12, not IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, 
applies to accounting for uncertain income tax treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and 
measure deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax 
treatment.  

 
The Group does not expect any significant impact on its financial statements arising from the future 
adoption of the interpretation. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 
(continued) 
 
Annual improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 Cycle – Amendments to IAS 12 and IAS 23 (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments to IAS 12 clarify that all income tax 
consequences of dividends should be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax arises. The 
amendments to IAS 23 clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is 
ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally 
when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings. The Group does not expect any significant 
impact from future adoption of these amendments.  

 
 IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018) This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 
transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The 
interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for situations 
where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. It does 
not apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial recognition at fair 
value or at the fair value of the consideration received or paid at a date other than the date of initial 
recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the Interpretation need not be 
applied to income taxes, insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of this amendment. 

 
The Group has concluded that all other standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards, which are published but not yet effective contain inconsequential clarifications that will have 
no material impact when they come into effect. 
 

(b)   Consolidation 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has the power, 
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable, or exercisable after 
conversion of convertible instruments, are taken into account.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases. 

 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations involving third parties 
by the Group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the 
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration 
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
assets. 
 

Stanley Motta Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

SECTION 1587 STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Page 14  

Stanley Motta Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(b) Consolidation (continued) 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair 
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss, in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Inter-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses and gains are also eliminated.  
 
Acquisitions between companies under common control are accounted for using the capital reorganization 
accounting method. Under the capital reorganization accounting method, the company in acquiring a fellow 
subsidiary incorporates the assets and liabilities of the acquired fellow subsidiary at their pre-combination 
carrying amounts without fair value uplift. Any excess or deficiency of purchase consideration over or below 
net assets acquired results in an adjustment to equity by the creation of a capital reserve. 
 
The Group’s subsidiary, country of incorporation, and the Group’s percentage interest are as follows: 

  Country of 
incorporation 

Group’s 
Percentage 

Interest 
  2017  2016 
                           Unity Capital Incorporated St. Lucia 100 Nil 

 
(c)   Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption 
Tax, returns, rebates and discounts. Revenue is reccognised as follows: 
 
(i) Rental and interest income are recognised on an accrual basis in the accounting period earned, 

except that where collection is doubtful, they are taken into account on a cash basis. 
 

(d) Foreign currency translations  

Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in 
Jamaican dollars, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of transaction.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at the financial period end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
At the year end, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated using the 
buying and selling rate of exchange rate of the transactions and unrealised foreign exchange differences on 
unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Stanley Motta Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

88STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Page 15  

Stanley Motta Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(e) Employee benefits  
(i) Pension plan 

The Company participates in a defined contribution plan operated by a related Company, T. Geddes 
Grant (Distributors) Limited whereby it pays contributions to a separate trustee-administered fund. Once 
the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations. Contributions to the plan 
are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which they relate.  

 
(ii) Leave accrual 

The Group does not allow unused vacation leave entitlements to be carried forward into the future. 
 
 (f) Income taxes 

Taxation expense in the statement of comprehensive income comprises current and deferred tax charges. 
 
Current tax charges are based on taxable profits for the period, which differ from the profit before tax reported 
because it excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other periods and items that are never taxable or 
deductible.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been enacted at the date of 
the statement of financial position. 
 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases.  Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements.  Currently enacted tax rates are used in the determination of 
deferred income tax. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the statement 
of comprehensive income, except where it relates to items charged or credited to equity, in which case, 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 
 

 (g) Property, plant and equipment  
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives. 
 
The annual rates of depreciation are as follows: 
 
  Leasehold improvement                 Period of lease    
  Machinery and equipment                                            10% - 33 1/3% 
   
Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds with the 
carrying amount and are included in operating profit. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(h) Impairment of non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment losses whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows. 
 

(i) Investment property 
 Investment property, principally comprising buildings.  Investment property is carried at fair value, representing 

the open market value determined annually by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market value 
prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this 
information is not available, the Plan uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices in less active 
markets or discounted cash flow projections.  These valuations are reviewed annually by independent 
valuators.  Changes in fair values are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income in other 
comprehensive income.  
 

(j) Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Any difference between proceeds, net 
of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over 
the period of the borrowings. 
 

(k) Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a financial 
liability or equity of another entity. 

 
Financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  loans and receivables and available-
for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 
 
 Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the date of the statement of financial position. These are classified as non-current assets. 
Included in loans and receivables are cash and cash equivalents and ‘receivables’. These are included in 
current assets in the statement of financial position.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(k) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management 
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the date of the statement of financial position. 
Included in available-for-sale financial assets are ‘investments’. These are included in non-current assets 
on the statement of financial position. 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and are 
subsequently carried at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.  Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
The Group assesses at each date of the statement of financial position whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost 
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or 
loss and is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.  

 
Financial liabilities 
The Group’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. These liabilities include payables, due to other related parties, due to parent and long-term 
borrowing and are included in on the statement financial position. 

  
(l)    Receivables 
 Receivables are carried at original invoice amount less provision made for impairment of these receivables. 

A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present 
value of expected cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest for similar borrowings.  Bad debts 
are written off during the period in which they are incurred. 

 
(m) Cash and cash equivalents 
 Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost.  For the purpose of the 

cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances. 
 
(n) Payables 

Payables are stated at invoice cost. 
 
(o) Share capital 

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable cumulative preference shares where the declaration of dividends is 
discretionary are classified as equity instruments. 
 

(p) Investment in subsidiary 
Investment in subsidiary is stated at cost. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued) 
 

(q) Related parties 
A party is related to the Group, if: 

 
(i) Directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party: 

(a) is controlled by, or is under common control with the Group; 
(b) has a direct or indirect interest in the Group that gives it significant influence; or 
(c) has joint control over the Group; 

(ii) the party is an associate of the Group; 
(iii) the party is a joint venture in which the Group; 
(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group; 
(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv) 
(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which 

significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv)’ 
or 

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity 
that is a related party of the Group. 

 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligated between related parties, 
regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 

4. Financial Risk Management 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  
 
The Group’s risk management activities set risk limits and controls, and monitor the risks and adherence to 
limits.  
 
The Board of Directors of the parent is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
risk management framework. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies 
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess 
liquidity. 
 

(a) Credit risk 
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a party to a financial instrument will fail to 
discharge their contractual obligation and cause the other party to incur a loss. Credit exposures arise 
principally from receivables and cash at bank. 
 
Cash at bank 
Cash is held with high credit quality financial institutions.  
 
Trade receivables  
The Group and the company’s exposure to this credit risk is low.   
 
The Group and the company’s policy is not to give credit. Terms of rental agreement were breached during 
the year by a related party.   
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

 (a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired 
As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of $3,974,000 (2016 – nil) were past due but not impaired. 
These are relate to two customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of 
these trade receivables was as follows: 
 

     2017  2016 
     $’000  $’000 

1 month and over      3,974  - 
 

There are no financial assets that were individually impaired. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk 
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk equals the carrying value for the items on the statement of 
financial position that are subject to credit risk. 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages its liquidity risk through monitoring outstanding balances 
and accessing funding, if necessary, from its parent Company, in advance of amounts becoming due.  
 

Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
The maturity profile of the Group financial liabilities at year end based on contractual undiscounted 
payments was as follows: 

  The Group 

  2017 

  Within 3  
Months 

 4 to 12  
Months  

2 to 5  
Years  

Over  5  
Years  Total  

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  
Payables  42,497 - - - 42,497 
Due to parent company  - 31,269 - - 31,269 
Due to other related parties  6,824 - - - 6,824 
Borrowing  12,192 61,086 412,266 645,002 1,130,546 

  61,513 92,355 412,266 645,002 1,211,136 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

 (b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities (continued) 

 
  The Group 

  2016 

  Within 3  
Months 

 4 to 12  
Months  

2 to 5  
Years  

Over  5  
Years  Total  

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  
Payables  14,673 - - - 14,673 
Borrowing  - - 91,150 214,673 305,823 
Due to other related party  - 29,062 203,059 - 232,121 

  14,673 29,062 294,209 214,673 552,617 
 

  The Company 
  2017 

  Within 3  
Months 

 4 to 12  
Months  

2 to 5  
Years  

Over  5  
Years  Total  

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  
Payables  42,497 - - - 42,497 
Due to parent company  - 31,269 - - 31,269 

Borrowing  12,192 56,487 301,262 433,064 803,005 

  54,689 87,756 301,262 433,064 876,771 
  

 
  The Company 
  2016 

  Within 3  
Months 

 4 to 12  
Months  

2 to 5  
Years  

Over  5  
Years  Total  

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  

Payables  14,673 - - - 14,673 

Borrowing  - - 91,150 214,673 305,823 

Due to other related party  - 29,062 203,059 - 232,121 

  14,673 29,062 294,209 214,673 552,617 
 

Assets available to meet the payables and long-term loan obligations include cash at bank, receivables and 
investments. The related party balance is a long term advance and can be settled by the Group, when it has 
sufficient cash flow. 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

 (c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Price risk 
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of certain equity investments which it holds. 
These investments are classified on the statement of financial position as available-for-sale. 
 
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in equity prices on the Group equity. The 
analysis is based on the assumption that the equity prices had increased/decreased by 15% (2016 –10%) 
with all other variables held constant. 
 

 The Group and Company  The Group and Company 
 31 December 2017  31 December 2016 

 
Change in 

equity prices 
Effect on 
Net Profit 

Effect on  
Equity 

 Change in 
equity prices 

Effect on 
Net Loss 

Effect on  
Equity 

 % $’000 $’000  % $’000 $’000 
        

 15% - (567)  10% - (357) 
 15% - 567  10% - 357 

 
Currency risk 
The Group and Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at year end was as follows: 

    The Group 

    2017 

    Jamaican$  US$  Total   
    J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 

Financial Assets       

Investments    3,779 - 3,779 

Receivables    6,288 3,955 10,243 

Cash and cash equivalents   463 1,771 2,234 

Total financial assets    10,530 5,726 16,256 

      

Payables   28,092 14,405 42,497 

Due to parent company   31,269 - 31,269 

Due to other related parties   - 6,824 6,824 

Borrowings    - 713,909 713,909 

Total financial liabilities    59,361 735,138 794,499 
Net financial position    (48,831) (729,412) (778,243) 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Currency risk (continued) 
 
    The Group 

    2016 

    Jamaican$  US$  Total   
    J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 

 2016 

Financial Assets       

Investments    3,567 - 3,567 

Receivables    2,601 - 2,601 

Cash and cash equivalents   1,574 67,415 68,989 

Total financial assets    7,742 67,415 75,157 
Financial Liabilities      

Payables   1,495 13,178 14,673 

Borrowings    - 197,471 197,471 

Due to parent company   232,121 - 232,121 

Total financial liabilities    233,616 210,649 444,265 
Net financial position    (225,874) (143,234) (369,108) 

 
    The Company 
    2017 
    Jamaican$  US$  Total   
    J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 

Financial Assets       

Investments    3,779 - 3,779 

Loan receivable    - 28,035 28,035 

Receivables    7,135 - 7,135 

Cash and cash equivalents   463 1,771 2,234 

Total financial assets    11,377 29,806 41,183 
Financial Liabilities      

Payables   28,092 14,405 42,497 

Due to parent company   31,269 - 31,269 

Borrowings    - 556,789 556,789 

Total financial liabilities    59,361 571,194 630,555 
Net financial position    (47,984) (541,388) (589,372) 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Currency risk (continued) 
 
    The Company 

    2016 

    Jamaican$  US$  Total   
    J$’000  J$’000 J$’000 

 2016 

Financial Assets       

Investments    3,567 - 3,567 

Receivables    2,601 - 2,601 

Cash and cash equivalents   1,574 67,415 68,989 

Total financial assets    7,742 67,415 75,157 
Financial Liabilities      

Payables   1,495 13,178 14,673 

Borrowings    - 197,471 197,471 

Due to parent company   232,121 - 232,121 

Total financial liabilities    233,616 210,649 444,265 
+Net financial position    (225,874) (143,234) (369,108) 

 
The following tables indicate the currencies to which the Group and the Company has significant exposure 
on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows.  The change in currency rate below 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity 
analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation 
at the year-end for 4% devaluation and 2% revaluation (2016: 6% devaluation, 1% revaluation) in foreign 
currency rates.  The sensitivity of the profit is a result of foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of 
US dollar-denominated cash and cash equivalents, payables  and borrowings. 
 

  The Group 

 

Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on 
Profit before 

Tax 

  Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on  
Loss before 

Tax 

 
2017 

% 
2017 
$’000 

 2016 
% 

2016 
$’000 

         
 -4% (29,176) -6% 8,594 
 2% 14,588 1% (1,432) 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Currency risk (continued) 
 
 The Company 

 
Change in 

Currency Rate 
Effect on 

Profit 
 Change in 

Currency Rate 
Effect on 

Loss 

 
2017 

% 
2017 
$’000 

 2016 
% 

2016 
$’000 

Currency:      
USD -4% (21,656)  -6% 8,594 

USD 2% 10,828  1% (1,432) 

 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the operation to cash flow 
interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the operation to fair value interest risk. 
 
The following table summarises the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes 
the operation’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing 
or maturity dates. 
 

  The Group 

  
Within 3 
Months 

4 to 12 
Months  

2 to 5  
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2017 
Assets        

Investments  - - - - 3,779 3,779 

Receivables  - - - - 10,243 10,243 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,771 - - - 463 2,234 
Total financial assets  1,771 - - - 14,485 16,256 
Liabilities        
Payables  - - - - 42,497 42,497 
Due to parent company  - - - - 31,269 31,269 
Due to related parties  - - - - 6,824 6,824 
Borrowings  - - - 713,909 - 713,909 

Total financial liabilities - - - 713,909 80,590 794,499 

Total interest repricing gap  1,771 - - (713,909) (66,105) (778,243) 

Stanley Motta Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

98STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Page 25  

Stanley Motta Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
 (c) Market risk (continued) 

 
Interest rate risk (continued) 

  The Group 

  
Within 3 
Months 

4 to 12 
Months  

2 to 5  
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2016 
Assets        

Investments  - - - - 3,567 3,567 

Receivables  - - - - 2,601 2,601 

Cash and cash equivalents  67,415 - - - 1,574 68,989 
Total financial assets  67,415 - - - 7,742 75,157 
Liabilities        
Payables  - - - - 14,673 14,673 
Due to parent company  - - - - 232,121 232,121 
Borrowings  - - - 197,471 - 197,471 

Total financial liabilities - - - 197,471 246,794 444,265 

Total interest repricing gap  67,415 - - (197,471) (239,052) (369,108) 
 
  The Company 

  
Within 3 
Months 

4 to 12 
Months  

2 to 5  
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2017 
Assets        

Investments  - - - - 3,779 3,779 

Loans receivable  - - 27,686 - 349 28,035 

Receivables  - - - - 7,135 7,135 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,771 - - - 463 2,234 
Total financial assets  1,771 - 27,686 - 11,726 41,183 
Liabilities        
Payables  - - - - 42,497 42,497 
Due to parent company   - - - - 31,269 31,269 
Borrowings  - - - 556,789 - 556,789 

Total financial liabilities - - - 556,789 73,766 630,555 

Total interest repricing gap  1,771 - 27,686 (556,789) (62,040) (589,372) 
 

Stanley Motta Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

SECTION 1599 STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Page 26  

Stanley Motta Limited  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

           

4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
 (c) Market risk (continued) 

 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

  The Company 

  
Within 3 
Months 

4 to 12 
Months  

2 to 5  
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2016 
Assets        
Investments  - - - - 3,567 3,567 

Receivables  - - - - 2,601 2,601 

Cash and cash equivalents  67,415 - - - 1,574 68,989 
Total financial assets  67,415 - - - 7,742 75,157 
Liabilities        
Payables  - - - - 14,673 14,673 
Borrowings  - - - 197,471 - 197,471 

Due to parent company  - - - - 232,121 232,121 
Total financial liabilities - - - 197,471 246,794 444,265 

Total interest repricing gap  67,415 - - (197,471) (239,052) (369,108) 
 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
The following tables provide an analysis of financial assets held as at the year-end that, subsequent to initial 
recognition, are measured at fair value. The financial assets are grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the fair value is observable, as follows: 

 
 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical instruments; 
 
 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 

level 1 that are observable for the instrument, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 
prices); and 

 
 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 

instrument that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 
The following table presents the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2017 
and 31 December 2016.   

 

 The Group 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  
 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

  2017   
Assets     

Quoted equities 3,779 - - 3,779 

Investment property - - 2,350,068 2,350,068 

 3,779 - 2,350,068 2,353,847 
 

 The Group 
  2016   
Assets     

Quoted equities 3,567 - - 3,567 

Investment property - - 399,398 399,398 

 3,567 - 399,398 402,965 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
 

   Total 
   $’000 

Opening balance  399,398 
Additions  547,748 
Revaluation gains on investment property  843,554 
Acquired in acquisition of subsidiary (note 28)  571,500 
Translation adjustment  (12,132) 
Closing balance  2,350,068 

 
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 

   Total 
   $’000 

Opening balance  - 
Additions  390,313 
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (note 13)  9,085 
Closing balance  399,398 
 

The following table presents the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2017 
and 31 December 2016.   

         
 The Company 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  
 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 2017 
Assets     

Quoted equities 3,779 - - 3,779 

Investment property - - 1,790,700 1,790,700 

 3,779 - 1,790,700 1,794,479 
 

 The Company 
 2016 

Assets     

Quoted equities 3,567 - - 3,567 

Investment property - - 399,398 399,398 

 3,567 - 399,398 402,965 
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
 

   Total 
   $’000 

Opening balance  399,398 
Additions  547,748 
Revaluation gains on investment property  843,554 
Closing balance  1,790,700 

 
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 

   Total 
   $’000 

Opening balance  - 
Additions  390,313 
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (note 11)  9,085 
Closing balance  399,398 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on quoted market prices at the 
statement of financial position date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is 
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1 and comprise equity instruments traded on the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange. The amounts included in the financial statements for receivables, due to holding 
Company, cash and cash equivalents and payables reflect their approximate fair value because of the short 
term maturity of these instruments.  
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4. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(e) Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, 
which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.  
 
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio 
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current 
and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. 
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt. 

 
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 were as follows:  

 
 The Group  The Company 
      
 2017 2016  2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

Total borrowings (Note 27) 713,909 197,471  556,789 197,471 
Less: cash and cash equivalents 

(Note 17) (2,234) (68,989)  (2,234) (68,989) 
Net debt 711,675 128,482  554,555 128,482 
Total equity 1,605,212 30,825  1,375,612 30,825 
Total capital 2,316,887 159,307  1,930,167 159,307 
Gearing ratio 31% 81%  29% 81% 

 
For details on loan securities, see (Note 27).  
 

5. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.   

 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 

 
Investment property 
Investment property for completed buildings is valued at market using the income capitalization approach which 
uses the principle of anticipation that recognises the present value of the future income benefits to be derived 
from ownership of the of the property. Assumptions are made about key factors in particular expected yield, 
discount and foreign exchange rates. Development land is valued using the Residual basis which makes 
assumptions about construction costs including developer’s profits. Any changes in key assumptions will directly 
impact the carrying value of the asset.  
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6. Segment Financial Reporting 
 
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing related products or 
services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment 
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.  
 
The main activities of the Group comprise the rental of properties in Kingston, Jamaica. These activities are 
organised and reported on as one main business segment. 
 

7. Other Operating Income 
 
   The Group and the Company 

    
 2017 

$’000  
2016 
$’000 

Dividend income     313 423 
Interest income     374 11 
Exchange gains     844 - 
Capital reserve transfer     - 41 

     1,531 475 
 
8. Expenses by Nature 

 
Total direct, administration and other operating expenses: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

 2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

Auditors’ remuneration:        
Current year 2,719  700  1,600  700 
Prior year (994)  -  -  - 

Salaries and related costs (Note 9) 15,935  -  15,935  - 
Depreciation (Note 13) 1,466  134  1,342  134 
Legal and professional fees 8,652  3,021  7,285  3,021 
Electricity 132  21  132  21 
Telephone 53  1  53  1 
Administration fees 123  13  123  13 
Insurance 373  -  -  - 
Advertisement -  58  -  58 
Rates and taxes 1,786  956  2,283  956 
Security 7,797  -  7,797  - 
Commission 13,177  -  13,177  - 
Travelling and entertainment 380  -  380  - 
Repair and maintenance 546  -  607  - 
Other 4,073  961  4,073  961 

 56,218  5,865  54,787  5,865 
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9. Salaries and Related Costs 
 

 The Group and The Company 
 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Salaries 15,653 - 
Payroll taxes – employer portion 236 - 
Pension cost 51 - 
Other (5) - 

 15,935 - 

10. Finance Costs 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 

$’000  
2016 

$’000 
 2017 

$’000  
2016 
$’000 

Exchange losses 418  1,534  36 1,534 
Loan interest 7,035  -  5,901 - 

 7,453  1,534  5,937 1,534 
 
11. Taxation 

 
(a) Taxation comprises income tax at 25% on the profit/(loss) for the year, adjusted for tax purposes: 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

 2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

 Current income tax at 25% -  -  - - 
Minimum business tax 60  60  60 60 

  Tax charge 60  60  60 60 
 
(b) The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 

statutory tax rate as follows: 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

 2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

Profit/(loss) before tax 853,671  (6,924)  854,175 (6,924) 
       
Tax calculated at 25% 213,418  (1,731)  213,544 (1,731) 
Income not subject to tax (212,254)  (106)  (213,169) (106) 
Unrecognised deferred tax asset  (1,240)  1,844  (547) 1,844 
Expenses not deductible for tax 136  53  232 53 

 60  60  60 60 
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11. Taxation (Continued) 
 

Subject to agreement with the Tax Administration Jamaica (TAJ), losses of approximately for the Group and 
Company $22,317,000 (2016 - $24,506,000) are available for set off against future taxable profits of the Group, 
and can be carried forward indefinitely.  As of January 1, 2014, tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely; 
however, the amount that can be utilized in any one year is restricted to 50% of chargeable income for that year 
(before taking account of the tax loss). 
The company was granted free zone status under the Jamaica Export Zones Act effectively 19 November 2015, 
resulting in income tax being charged on applicable profits at zero. Based on the company’s tax status resulting 
in uncertainty of it’s ability to utilize tax losses in the foreseeable future, deferred tax assets resulting therefrom 
are not recognized. 
   

12. Earnings per Stock Unit  

Earning per stock unit (“EPS’’) is computed by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to stockholders of the Company 
of $853,611,000 (2016: ($6,984,000) by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the 
year, numbering 430,314,195 (2016: 212,539,413). 

 
13. Property, Plant and Equipment 

   The Group 

   
Leasehold  

Improvements  

Machinery  
and  

Equipment 

 

Total 
   $’000  $’000  $’000 

Cost -        

31 December 2015   9,401  12,984  22,385 

Additions   -  83  83 

Reclassification (note 14)   (9,085)  -  (9,085) 
31 December 2016   316  13,067  13,383 
Additions   -  10,207  10,207 
Acquired on business combination    -  13,462  13,462 
Exchange rate adjustment   -  (299)  (299) 

31 December 2017   316  36,437  36,753 
Accumulated Depreciation -        

31 December 2015   316  12,449  12,765 

Charge for the year   -  134  134 
31 December 2016   316  12,583  12,899 

Charge for the year   -  1,466  1,466 

Acquired on business combination    -  127  127 

Exchange rate adjustment   -  (2)  (2) 

31 December 2017   316  14,174  14,490 
Net Book Value -        

31 December 2017   -  22,263  22,263 

31 December 2016   -  484  484 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 
   The Company 

   
Leasehold  

Improvements  

Machinery  
and  

Equipment 

 

Total 
   $’000  $’000  $’000 

Cost -        

31 December 2015   9,401  12,984  22,385 

Additions   -  83  83 

Reclassification (note 14)   (9,085)  -  (9,085) 
31 December 2016   316  13,067  13,383 
Additions   -  9,572  9,572 

31 December 2017   316  22,639  22,955 
Accumulated Depreciation -        

31 December 2015   316  12,449  12,765 

Charge for the year   -  134  134 
31 December 2016   316  12,583  12,899 

Charge for the year   -  1,342  1,342 

31 December 2017   316  13,925  14,241 
Net Book Value -        

31 December 2017   -  8,714  8,714 

31 December 2016   -  484  484 
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14. Investment Property 
     The Group 
     Land Building Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost -        

31 December 2015     - - - 

Additions     243,019 147,294 390,313 
Reclassification (note 13)     - 9,085 9,085 
31 December 2016     243,019 156,379 399,398 
Additions     107,950 439,798 547,748 
Revaluation gains     282,983 560,671 843,554 

Acquired in business combination (note 28)     279,400 292,100 571,500 
Exchange rate adjustment     (5,931) (6,201) (12,132) 
31 December 2017     907,421 1,442,647 2,350,068 

Net Book Value        
31 December 2017     907,421 1,442,647 2,350,068 
31 December 2016     243,019 156,379 399,398 

 
     The Company 
     Land Building Total 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost -        
31 December 2015     - - - 
Additions     243,019 147,294 390,313 
Reclassification (note 13)     - 9,085 9,085 
31 December 2016     243,019 156,379 399,398 

Additions     107,950 439,798 547,748 

Revaluation gains     282,983 560,671 843,554 

31 December 2017     633,952 1,156,748 1,790,700 
Net Book Value        

31 December 2017     633,952 1,156,748 1,790,700 

31 December 2016     243,019 156,379 399,398 
 

Investment property is measured at market value, as appraised by professional, independent valuators every year. 
The valuation model is the income capitalisation approach for buildings which considers the present value of the net 
cash flows projected to be generated from the property, the condition of the buildings and their location (prime vs 
secondary) and the residual basis for development land. 
During November 2017, the investment property was revalued, by NAI Jamaica Langford and Brown, professional 
valuators. The resulting surplus was $878,906,000 for the Group and Company. The surplus is recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income. The valuators indicated that had the force sale value/special assumption price 
been used, the surplus would be reduced by an estimated $406,400,000.  
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14. Investment Property (Continued) 
 
The fair value of the company’s investment property is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as 
described in Note 4 (d). 
 
The technique used to determine the fair/market value of the Group’s investment property is as follows. 

 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs 
and fair/market value 
measurement 

Market value using the income 
capitalization approach for buildings and 
the residual approach for development 
land.  This model takes into account: 
 Income Capitalization Approach; 

The processing of a projected net 
income into valuation estimate vis 
one or more capitalization 
techniques. This is an appropriate 
method where the building is 
capable of being sold as an 
investment and adequate rental 
income and expense data are 
available;  
 

 Residual Basis 
This a method of ascertaining the 
value of land specifically approved 
for development by taking account 
of development costs including 
developers profit and projected final 
value of the property on completion 
of buildings . The net result is the 
value a developer can afford to pay 
for the land, its deemed value. 
 

 Expected yield, discount rates, 
inflation, foreign exchange rates 
and future expenses. 

 The strength of demand for the 
property, given its condition, 
location and range of potential 
uses. 

 The attractiveness/marketability of 
the property location in the future 

 
 
 
 
 Development costs including 

Developer’s profit percentages 
used are based on budgets/estimates.

 
The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if:  

 
 Expected yield, discount, 

inflation and foreign 
exchange rates used 
changes 

 
 The marketability of the 

property location 
changes 

 
 
 Any variations in actual 

development costs 
including in developers 
profit percentage. 

 
15. Investments 

 The Group and Company 

 
  2017 
$’000   

  2016 
$000 

Quoted equities, at fair value   3,779 3,567 

   
At the beginning of the year 3,567 4,504 
Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive income 212 (937) 

At the end of the year 3,779 3,567 
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16. Loan and Notes Receivables 
 The Company 

 
  2017 
$’000   

  2016 
$000 

Related party 27,686 - 

Interest receivable 349 - 

 28,035 - 
 

The above represent loan amount receivable from Unity Capital Incorporated. Interest rate is 10% per annum with 
a maturity date 17 November 2027. 
 

17. Investment in Subsidiary 

     
2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

Unity Capital Incorporated        

Shares, at cost – equity     151,765  - 

     151,765  - 
 
During the year, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in Unity Capital Incorporated. 4,000 ordinary 
shares, were purchased for $151,765,000.  Unity Capital Incorporated is incorporated and domiciled in St. Lucia 
and is a private company for which there is no quoted price for its shares. 
 

18. Receivables 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 

$’000  
2016 
$’000 

 2017 
$’000  

2016 
$’000 

Trade 3,974  -  3,974 - 

Other 5,485  3,007  3,567 3,007 

Prepayments 34,702  4,857  33,512 4,857 

 44,161  7,864  41,053 7,864 

Less: provision for impairment (406)  (406)  (406) (406) 

 43,755  7,458  40,647 7,458 
 
19.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
   The Group and the Company 

    
 2017 

$’000  
2016 
$’000 

Cash at bank    2,214  68,969 

Cash in hand    20  20 

    2,234  68,989 
 

Cash at bank includes United States dollar savings account. Interest is currently 0.75% (2016 - 0.75%) per annum. 
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20. Payables 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 
$’000    

2016 
$’000  

  2017 
$’000   

 2016 
$’000 

Audit fees 2,719  700  1,600  700 

Rental deposit 15,950  13,178  15,950  13,178 

Interest payable 14,405  1,495  14,405  1,495 

Statutory 329  -  329  - 

Accruals 32,621  5,380  31,059  5,380 

 66,024  20,753 63,343  20,753 
 
21. Share Capital 

     

 
  2017 
$’000   

  2016 
$’000 

Authorised -       

11,000 (2016 -11,000) 6% Cumulative Preference shares        

656,381,753  (2016 - 399,989,000) Ordinary shares        

Issued and fully paid -       

10, 830 (2016 -10,830) 6% Cumulative Preference shares      22 22 

656,339,765 (2016 – 399,947,012) Ordinary shares      530,787 40,327 

     530,809 40,349 
 
On 14 July 2016 the company increase its authorised share capital from 411,000 to 400,000,000 by the 
creation of an additional 399,589,000 ordinary shares to rank pari passu, in all respects, with the existing 
ordinary shares. The newly created shares were then issued for a consideration of $39,958,900. 

 
On 17 November 2017) the company increase its authorised ordinary share capital from 399,947,012 to 
656,339,765 by the creation of an additional 256,392,753 ordinary shares to rank pari passu, in all respects, 
with the existing ordinary shares. The newly created shares were then issued for a consideration of 
$490,450,100. 

 
22. Fair Value Reserve 

 
This comprises the fair value gains or losses on available-for-sale equity investments. 
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23. Capital Reserve 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2017 
$’000    

2016 
$’000  

  2017 
$’000    

 2016 
$’000 

At the beginning of year -  -  -  - 

Additions  238,379  -  238,379  - 

At the ended of the year 238,379  -  238,379  - 

 
This represent capital reserve on the acquisition of former fellow subsidiary Unity Capital Incorporated (note 28).  

 
24. Cumulative Translation Reserve 

The cumulative translation reserve comprises currency translation differences from the unrealized gains and 
losses on the translation of the net assets of the subsidiary which has a different functional currency from the 
company. 

25. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 

(a) Year end balances arising from transactions with related parties: 
 

Loan to Subsidiary: 
 The Group  The Company 
  2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
 2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
Unity Capital Incorporated -  -  28,035  - 

 
  Payable to related parties 

 The Group  The Company 
  2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
 2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
Other related parties 6,824  -  -  - 
Parent current account 31,269  29,062  31,269  29,062 
Parent company long term loan -  203,059  -  203,059 
 

(b) The statement of comprehensive income includes transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with the 
parent company, fellow subsidiaries, key management personnel (directors and senior executives) and other 
related parties as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 
  2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
 2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
Rental income:        

Other related parties 35,730  -  6,892  - 
Other expenses:        

Other related party 1,615  -  -  - 
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25. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
 

(c) Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly.  Such persons comprise the directors, senior 
management of the Group and company secretary. The compensation paid or payable to key management for 
employee services is as shown below: 

 
 The Group and Company 

 
 2017 
$’000 

 2016 
$’000 

Directors emoluments:    
Fees  -  - 
Management remuneration 6,822  - 

Key management compensation:    
Short-term employee benefits (Note 9) 7,095  - 

 13,917  - 
 
26.  Deferred Income Taxes 

 
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of 25%.  
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the 
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group has tax losses amounting to 
approximately $22,317,000 (2016 - $24,506,000), which would give rise to a net deferred tax asset. Due to the fact 
that the Company was granted free zone status, the Group has not recognized the deferred tax asset as there is 
uncertainty about the probability of future taxable profits being available to fully utlilise these assets.  

27. Borrowings 
 The Group  The Company 
  2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
 2017 

$’000 
 2016 

$’000 
Development Bank of Jamaica Limited (a) 556,789  197,471  556,789  197,471 
Jamaica National Building Society (b) 157,120  -  -  - 
 713,909  197,471  556,789  197,471 
Current portion (39,634)  -  (35,781)  - 

 674,275  197,471  521,008  197,471 
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27. Borrowings (Continued) 
 

(a) Development Bank of Jamaica Limited and is secured by the following: 
 

(i) A first registered mortgage over Lot B1, Lot 6A, Lot 8A of land part of volume 313 and folio 49, situated at 
58 Half Way Tree Road;  

 
(ii) First legal mortgage over Lot 2, Lot 4, Lot 6 and Lot 8 situated at 58 Half Way Tree Road; 
 
(iii) Comfort letter from Musson Jamaica Limited (the Parent Company); 
 
(iv) Assignment of all risk insurance over the Company’s buildings and equipment with Development Bank of 

Jamaica Limited’s interest noted as loss payee; 
 
(v) Establishment of a debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) in which shall be deposited over a period of six 

(6) months from the date of commencement of the lease an amount equivalent to three (3) month’s 
principal payments and six (6) months interest payments totaling USD 209,026 such (DSRA) to be 
assigned to Development Bank of Jamaica Limited; 

 
(vi) Assignment of lease agreements concerning those properties owned by the Company; 
 
(vii) Debenture in favour of Development Bank of Jamaica Limited over real property and other fixed assets 

belonging to the borrower; and 
 

(viii) Security interest in and over equipment and any other personal property purchased with the loan, such 
interest to be registered under the Security Interest in Personal Property Act by Development Bank of 
Jamaica Limited. 

 
The original loan amount disbursed was US$4,454,302. This loan is repayable over 12 years and is amortized 
over 10 years and 6 months with a moratorium of 18 months on interest, (which shall be accrued during the 
moratorium period and is capitalized at the end of the same period). The interest rate on this loan is 4.5%.  

 
(b) Jamaica National Building Society and is secured by the following: 

 
(i) This is secured by the land and buildings owned by Unity Capital Incorporated.  
 
The original loan amount is J$170,000,000 and is repayable over 202 months and at an interest rate of 
11.375%.  
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27. Borrowings (Continued) 
 

(c) Net debt reconciliation 
 

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods 
presented. 

 The Group 

 
Total  
$’000 

Net debts as at 1 January 2016  
Cash movements -  - 
Loans received 199,829 
Non-cash movements -   
Foreign exchange adjustments (2,357) 
Net debt as at 31 December 2016 197,472 
Cash movements -   
Loans received 374,515 
Acquired on business combination (note 28) 162,560 
Repayment - principal (353) 
Repayment - interest (2,251) 
Non-cash movements  
Foreign exchange adjustments (18,034) 
Net debt as at 31 December 2017 713,909 
 

 The Company 
 $’000 

Net debts as at 1 January 2016  
Cash movements -  - 
Loans received 199,829 
Non-cash movements -   
Foreign exchange adjustments (2,357) 
Net debt as at 31 December 2016 197,472 
Cash movements -   
Loans received 374,515 
Non-cash movements  
Foreign exchange adjustments (15,198) 
Net debt as at 31 December 2017 556,789 
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28. Acquisition of Fellow Subsidiary  
 

In November 2017, as a part of group reorganization exercise by parent Musson (Jamaica) Limited,the Company 
acquired 100% of the issued share capital of former fellow subsidiary, Unity Capital Incorporated (St. Lucia) from 
parent Musson Jamaica Limited. The reorganization was deemed a capital reorganization under IFRS. Under the 
capital reorganization method of accounting, the Company incorporated the assets and liabilities of Unity Capital 
Incorporated at their pre-combination carrying amounts without fair value uplift and as such reflects the carrying 
values that are related to that entity. The resulting excess of net assets over the purchase consideration is 
transferred to equity as capital reserve. 
 

Details of the net assets acquired and purchase consideration were as follows: 
 

  $'000 
Purchase consideration   151,765 
Book value of net assets acquired  (390,144)
Gain transferred to equity as capital reserve  238,379 

 
(a)  Assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows: 

  
Fair  

Value  

  $'000 

Property, plant and equipment (net)  13,335 

Investment property   571,500 

Accounts receivable  2,032 

Borrowing  (162,560) 

Related party  (28,956) 

Accounts payable  (5,207) 

Net assets  390,144 

   

Cash consideration   151,765 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired   - 

Net cash outflow on acquisition   151,765 
 

(b) For the one month period ended 31 December 2017, Unity Capital Incorporated contributed revenue of 
$2,361,000 and net losses of $504,000 to the Group’s results.  If the acquisition had occurred on  
1 January 2017, management estimates that contributed revenue would have been $28,332,000, and 
contributed net profit for the year would have been $6,048,000.  In determining these amounts, 
management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined previously, that arose on the 
acquisition date would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on the 1 January 2017. 

 
29. Subsequent Event  
 

On 29 March 2018, the Company issued 101,488,725 additional ordinary share to Musson Jamaica Limited at a 
value of $281,332,107.   
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STANLEY MOTTA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
AT 31 MARCH 2018

March - 18 Dec - 17
JMD JMD

Note $'000  $'000  
          41,172           72,257 

                    -               1,531 
 4          (15,945)         (56,218)

             25,227           17,570 
 5          (14,538)           (7,453)

                      -           843,554 
              10,689         853,671 

                  -                  (60)
             10,689         853,611 

Revenue
Other operating income 
Administrative expenses
Operating profit   
Finance cost
Exchange gain of property revaluation 
Profit  before Taxation  
Taxation
Net Profit 

Stanley Motta Limited
Consolidated Income Statement
At 31 March 2018
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The unaudited Financial Statements for the 
quarter ended March 31, 2018 along with notes, 
are set out below.

SECTION 15

STANLEY MOTTA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 MARCH 2018

   

     
                              

                  
                               

                                                
                                              

                 
Current Assets
Inventory                     937                937 
Receivables 7                56,409           43,755 
Due from related party                50,978                  -   
Taxation recoverable                     202                202 
Cash and cash equivalents 8                60,331             2,234 

             168,857           47,128 
Current Liabilities
Payables 9                            
Due to related party                                       
Due to holding company                              
Current portion of borrowings                            

               92,544         143,751 
                 76,313         

          2,689,296      2,279,487 

Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital 10              811,933         530,809 
Fair value reserve                  3,776             3,776 
Capital reserve              238,379         238,379 
Other reserves                  2,288           (8,275)
Retained earnings              851,212         840,523 

          1,907,588      1,605,212 
 

11                        
                                               

                       
                 

 
    

  

    

Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)

  

 

Non-Current Liability 
Borrowings 781,708  674,275  

674,275781,708
2,279,4872,689,296

2,612,983 2,376,110

66,024
 6,824 
31,269 
39,634

(96,625)

44,529
 -
 8,252 
39,763

 
    

    22,193
2,587,011 

3,779

22,263
2,350,068 

3,779

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 
Investment property 
Investments

Dec - 17 
JMD
$'000

March -18 
JMD
$'000

6
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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March - 18 Dec - 17
JMD JMD

Note $'000  $'000  
          41,172           72,257 

                    -               1,531 
 4          (15,945)         (56,218)

             25,227           17,570 
 5          (14,538)           (7,453)

                      -           843,554 
              10,689         853,671 

                  -                  (60)
             10,689         853,611 

Revenue
Other operating income 
Administrative expenses
Operating profit   
Finance cost
Exchange gain of property revaluation 
Profit  before Taxation  
Taxation
Net Profit 

STANLEY MOTTA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 31 MARCH 2018

   

     
                              

                  
                               

                                                
                                              

                 
Current Assets
Inventory                     937                937 
Receivables 7                56,409           43,755 
Due from related party                50,978                  -   
Taxation recoverable                     202                202 
Cash and cash equivalents 8                60,331             2,234 

             168,857           47,128 
Current Liabilities
Payables 9                            
Due to related party                                       
Due to holding company                              
Current portion of borrowings                            

               92,544         143,751 
                 76,313         

          2,689,296      2,279,487 

Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital 10              811,933         530,809 
Fair value reserve                  3,776             3,776 
Capital reserve              238,379         238,379 
Other reserves                  2,288           (8,275)
Retained earnings              851,212         840,523 

          1,907,588      1,605,212 
 

11                        
                                               

                       
                 

 
    

  

    

Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)

  

 

Non-Current Liability 
Borrowings 781,708  674,275  

674,275781,708
2,279,4872,689,296

2,612,983 2,376,110

66,024
 6,824 
31,269 
39,634

(96,625)

44,529
 -
 8,252 
39,763

 
    

    22,193
2,587,011 

3,779

22,263
2,350,068 

3,779

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 
Investment property 
Investments

Dec - 17 
JMD
$'000

March -18 
JMD
$'000

6
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Stanley Motta Limited    

  
      

  
                 

                  
                   

  
                

                    
  

     
  

     
            

              
    

         
  

               
             

                 
         

  
      

               
                

             
            

  
(a) Basis of preparation
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
 accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
 Group’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
 current events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under this historical cost convention, as modified by
 the revaluation of available-for-sale securities and investment property. The principal accounting policies applied
 in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied
 to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2. Statement of Compliance

 (a) Statement of compliance
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financing Reporting
 Standards (IFRS) and IFRS interpretation committee applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

                
                 

1. Identification and Principal Activity

                
                 

               

               
                
               
    

 
                

                
        

                
                 

               

                
                

        

In November 2017, as a part of group capital reorganization exercise by Musson (Jamaica) Limited, the 
Company acquired 100% of the shares of Unity Capital Incorporated resulting in this fellow subsidiary becoming 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (Note 17).

These financial statements present the results of operations and financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiary, which are collectively referred to as “the Group.” The principal activity of the Group is property 
rental.

Stanley Motta Limited, (the Company) is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. 
The registered office of the Company is located at 58 Half Way Tree Road Kingston 10, Jamaica. The 
Company is a subsidiary of Musson (Jamaica) Limited which is also incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.

SECTION 15

STANLEY MOTTA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AT 31 MARCH 2018

Mar - 18 Dec - 17
JMD JMD
$'000  $'000  

    
                  10,689 853,611          

 
                     -   60                   
                     70 1,466              

                      -   (313)               
                                           
                                        
                              

                                 
                                

                              
     

                     -   183                 
            (12,654) (34,265)          

             (23,017) (200,852)        
             (57,802) (22,132)          

            (28,547) 34,162            
                 (96,723)          (221,162)
    

                          -   (151,765)        
     (10,207)          
             (236,943) (547,748)        

                         
                                          

                                          
                                        

                       
    

                          
                           

                           
                            

                           
                                           

                                
                                    

                                    

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Net profit for the year
Adjusted for:
Taxation
Depreciation
Dividend Income
Interest income
Interest expenses
Revaluation gain
Exchange gains on foreign currency balances

 -
12,390

(374)
7,035

(843,554) 
(16,191)

 -
2,148

1,74125,297

     

 
 

    
    

     
     
   

 
 

 
 

    
    

   
   

 
     

    
          

      
       

       

     

 
 

    
    

     
     
   

 
 

 
    
    

   
   

 
     

    
          

      
       

       

- 374
313
(107)

-
-

(709,140)(236,943)

 
  

374,162

  

  

     

 
 

    
    

     
     
   

 
 

 
    
    

   
   

 
     

    
          

       
       

       

     

 
 

    
    

     
     
   

 
 

 
    
    

   
 

     
    
          

      
       

       

105,415

  
 (1,134) 
490,460

381,200 863,488
10,563 59

(66,755)
68,989

58,097
2,234
60,331 2,234

 (5,338) 
281,124

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Inventories
Receivables
Holding company
Related Party
Payables
Cash used in operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investment property
Interest received
Dividend received
Taxation paid
Cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term loan
Interest paid
Proceeds from the issue of shares
Cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
Increase/(Decrease) in net cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Stanley Motta Limited
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(a) Basis of preparation
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
 accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
 Group’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
 current events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under this historical cost convention, as modified by
 the revaluation of available-for-sale securities and investment property. The principal accounting policies applied
 in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied
 to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2. Statement of Compliance

 (a) Statement of compliance
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financing Reporting
 Standards (IFRS) and IFRS interpretation committee applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

                
                 

1. Identification and Principal Activity

                
                 

               

               
                
               
    

 
                

                
        

                
                 

               

                
                

        

In November 2017, as a part of group capital reorganization exercise by Musson (Jamaica) Limited, the 
Company acquired 100% of the shares of Unity Capital Incorporated resulting in this fellow subsidiary becoming 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (Note 17).

These financial statements present the results of operations and financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiary, which are collectively referred to as “the Group.” The principal activity of the Group is property 
rental.

Stanley Motta Limited, (the Company) is a company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. 
The registered office of the Company is located at 58 Half Way Tree Road Kingston 10, Jamaica. The 
Company is a subsidiary of Musson (Jamaica) Limited which is also incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.
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(a) Basis of preparation (continued)  
  
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective during the 
current period  

  Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been 
published that became effective during the current financial reporting period. The Group has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments, and 
concluded that the following are relevant to its operations.  
  
• Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2017). The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an 
asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base. They 
also clarify certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax assets. Deferred tax 
assets are assessed in combination with other deferred tax assets where the tax law 
does not restrict the source of taxable profits against which particular types of deferred 
tax assets can be recovered. Where restrictions apply, deferred tax assets are assessed 
in combination only with other deferred tax assets of the same type. The amendment 
also clarifies that tax deductions resulting from the reversal of deferred tax assets are 
excluded from the estimated future taxable profit that is used to evaluate the 
recoverability of those assets. The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact 
on the Group’s financial statements.   

  
• Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash flows’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The amendment introduces an additional 
disclosure that will enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities. The amendment is part of the IASB’s Disclosure 
Initiative, which continues to explore how financial statement disclosure can be 
improved. An entity is required to disclose information that will allow users to understand 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This includes changes arising from 
cash flows, such as drawdowns and repayments of borrowings; and non-cash changes, 
such as acquisitions, disposals and unrealised exchange differences.   

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective   
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, 
amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been issued which are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but 
were not effective at date of the statement of financial position, and which the Group has not 
early adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, 
interpretations and amendments, has determined that the following may be relevant to its 
operations, and has concluded as follows:  
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Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective (continued)  
  
 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments part 1: Classification and measurement (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). Financial assets are required to 
be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at 
fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to 
be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model 
for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the instrument.  

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument 
and both the objective  of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments 
of principal and interest (that is, it has only ‘basic loan features’). All other debt 
instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments 
that are held for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other 
equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to 
recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other 
comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value 
gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument by-
instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they 
represent a return on investment.    

Entities with financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss recognise 
changes in the fair value due to changes in the liability’s credit risk directly in other 
comprehensive income (OCI). There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI 
to profit or loss, but accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within equity.   

  
While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2018, earlier adoption is 
permitted for financial assets without adopting the requirements for financial liabilities. 
The Group is currently assessing the impacts of the future adoption of this standard on 
its operations.  

  
 IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, (effective for the periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new standard introduces the core principle 
that revenue must be recognised when the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must 
be separately recognised, and any discounts or rebates on the contract price must 
generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies for any 
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(a) Basis of preparation (continued)  
  
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective during the 
current period  

  Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been 
published that became effective during the current financial reporting period. The Group has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments, and 
concluded that the following are relevant to its operations.  
  
• Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2017). The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an 
asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base. They 
also clarify certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax assets. Deferred tax 
assets are assessed in combination with other deferred tax assets where the tax law 
does not restrict the source of taxable profits against which particular types of deferred 
tax assets can be recovered. Where restrictions apply, deferred tax assets are assessed 
in combination only with other deferred tax assets of the same type. The amendment 
also clarifies that tax deductions resulting from the reversal of deferred tax assets are 
excluded from the estimated future taxable profit that is used to evaluate the 
recoverability of those assets. The adoption of this amendment did not have any impact 
on the Group’s financial statements.   

  
• Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash flows’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The amendment introduces an additional 
disclosure that will enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities. The amendment is part of the IASB’s Disclosure 
Initiative, which continues to explore how financial statement disclosure can be 
improved. An entity is required to disclose information that will allow users to understand 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This includes changes arising from 
cash flows, such as drawdowns and repayments of borrowings; and non-cash changes, 
such as acquisitions, disposals and unrealised exchange differences.   

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective   
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, 
amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been issued which are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but 
were not effective at date of the statement of financial position, and which the Group has not 
early adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, 
interpretations and amendments, has determined that the following may be relevant to its 
operations, and has concluded as follows:  
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Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective (continued)  
  
 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments part 1: Classification and measurement (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). Financial assets are required to 
be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at 
fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to 
be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model 
for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the instrument.  

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument 
and both the objective  of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments 
of principal and interest (that is, it has only ‘basic loan features’). All other debt 
instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments 
that are held for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other 
equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to 
recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other 
comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value 
gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument by-
instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they 
represent a return on investment.    

Entities with financial liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss recognise 
changes in the fair value due to changes in the liability’s credit risk directly in other 
comprehensive income (OCI). There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI 
to profit or loss, but accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within equity.   

  
While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2018, earlier adoption is 
permitted for financial assets without adopting the requirements for financial liabilities. 
The Group is currently assessing the impacts of the future adoption of this standard on 
its operations.  

  
 IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, (effective for the periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new standard introduces the core principle 
that revenue must be recognised when the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must 
be separately recognised, and any discounts or rebates on the contract price must 
generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies for any 
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• IFRIC 22,’ Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’, (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign 
currency transactions or parts of transactions where there is consideration that is 
denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides guidance for 
when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for situations where multiple 
payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice.  The 
Group does not expect any significant impact on its financial statements arising from the 
future adoption of the interpretation.  

  
• IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and 
measurement requirements of IAS  
12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. 
The IFRS IC had clarified previously that IAS 12, not IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting for uncertain income tax 
treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current 
income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment.   

  
The Group does not expect any significant impact on its financial statements arising 
from the future adoption of the interpretation.  

  

      

     

              
             

               
             

                                                    
      

Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued)3.

                               

• IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with
 earlier application permitted if IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, is
 also applied). This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. Under IAS 17,
 lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on the statement
 of financial position) and an operating lease (off statement of financial position). IFRS 16
 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a
 ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The standard includes an optional
 exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; however, this
 exemption can only be applied by lessees. For lessors, the accounting stays almost the
 same. The Group is currently assessing the impacts of the future adoption of this
 standard on its operations.

         
              
             

               
             

       

    

           
 

              
             

               
             

        

           
 

    

reason, minimum amounts must be recognised if they are not at significant risk of 
reversal. Costs incurred to secure contracts with customers have to be capitalised and 
amortised over the period when the benefits of the contract are consumed. The Group is 
currently assessing the impacts of the future adoption of this standard on its operations.

        • IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (Continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued)  
  

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)  

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective (continued)  
  
Annual improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 Cycle – Amendments to IAS 12 and IAS 23 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments to IAS 12 
clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends should be recognised in profit or loss, 
regardless of how the tax arises. The amendments to IAS 23 clarify that if any specific borrowing 
remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing 
becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation 
rate on general borrowings. The Group does not expect any significant impact from future 
adoption of these amendments.   

  
 IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’ (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) This IFRIC addresses foreign currency 
transactions or parts of transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced 
in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is 
made as well as for situations where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims 
to reduce diversity in practice. It does not apply when an entity measures the related asset, 
expense or income on initial recognition at fair value or at the fair value of the consideration 
received or paid at a date other than the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability. Also, the Interpretation need not be applied to income taxes, insurance 
contracts or reinsurance contracts. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this 
amendment.  

  
The Group has concluded that all other standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards, which are published but not yet effective contain inconsequential clarifications that 
will have no material impact when they come into effect.  

  
(b)   Consolidation 

Subsidiaries  
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has 
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are 
exercisable, or exercisable after conversion of convertible instruments, are taken into account.  
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

  
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations involving 
third parties by the Group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the 
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued)  
  

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)  

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet 
effective (continued)  
  
Annual improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 Cycle – Amendments to IAS 12 and IAS 23 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments to IAS 12 
clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends should be recognised in profit or loss, 
regardless of how the tax arises. The amendments to IAS 23 clarify that if any specific borrowing 
remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing 
becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation 
rate on general borrowings. The Group does not expect any significant impact from future 
adoption of these amendments.   

  
 IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’ (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) This IFRIC addresses foreign currency 
transactions or parts of transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced 
in a foreign currency. The interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is 
made as well as for situations where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims 
to reduce diversity in practice. It does not apply when an entity measures the related asset, 
expense or income on initial recognition at fair value or at the fair value of the consideration 
received or paid at a date other than the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability. Also, the Interpretation need not be applied to income taxes, insurance 
contracts or reinsurance contracts. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this 
amendment.  

  
The Group has concluded that all other standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards, which are published but not yet effective contain inconsequential clarifications that 
will have no material impact when they come into effect.  

  
(b)   Consolidation 

Subsidiaries  
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has 
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are 
exercisable, or exercisable after conversion of convertible instruments, are taken into account.  
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

  
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations involving 
third parties by the Group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the 
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
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The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as 
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case 
of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss, in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  
  
Inter-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses and gains are also eliminated.   
  
Acquisitions between companies under common control are accounted for using the capital 
reorganization accounting method. Under the capital reorganization accounting method, the 
company in acquiring a fellow subsidiary incorporates the assets and liabilities of the acquired 
fellow subsidiary at their pre-combination carrying amounts without fair value uplift. Any excess 
or deficiency of purchase consideration over or below net assets acquired results in an 
adjustment to equity by the creation of a capital reserve.  
  
The Group’s subsidiary, country of incorporation, and the Group’s percentage interest are as 
follows:  

             
                                                                                                   County of Incorporation          Group’s 
                                                                                                   Incorporation                          Percentage 
                                                                                                                                                    Interest        
   2018   2017  
                           Unity Capital Incorporated                      St. Lucia                          100     100 

  
(c) Revenue recognition  

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of 
goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of 
General Consumption Tax, returns, rebates and discounts. Revenue is reccognised as follows:  
  
(i) Rental and interest income are recognised on an accrual basis in the accounting period 

earned, except that where collection is doubtful, they are taken into account on a cash 
basis.  

 
  

       

            
               

             
             

                                    Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued)3.

            
               

                
          

(b) Consolidation (continued)

           
               

                 
        

            
              

            
              

  

            
              

            
              

  

            
              

            
              

  

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition- by- acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets.
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Total direct, administration and other operating expenses: 
 

                        The Group                      The Company
     'Mar - 18 Dec - 17 Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Auditors' renumuneration 687                    1,725               400                1,600                   
Salaries and reated cost 4,517                 15,935             4,517             15,935                 
Depreciation 576                    1,466               336                1,342                   
Legal and Professional fees 4,367                 8,652               4,367             7,285                   
Electricity 33                      132                  33                  132                      
Telephone 14                      53                    14                  53                       
Administration fees 25                      123                  25                  123                      
Insurance 186                    373                  93                  
Rates and taxes 410                    1,786               62                  2,283                   
Security 3,186                 7,797               3,186             7,797                   
Commission -                     13,177             -                 13,177                 
Travelling and entertainment 121                    380                  121                380                      
Repairs and Maintenance 802                    546                  802                607                      
Other 1,020                 4,073               873                4,073                   

15,945                56,218             14,830            54,787                 

 
 
 
 

5. Finance Cost 
 

                       The Group                   The Company
Mar - 18 Dec - 17 Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Exchange losses 2,148                 418                  2,148             36                       
Loan Interest 12,390                7,035               7,051             5,901                   

14,538                7,453               9,199             5,937                   

 
 
 

4. Expenses by Nature

              

       

       

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The financial 
statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is the Company’s functional and the 
Group’s presentation currency.

(d) Foreign currency translations

                                                                                Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Compliance (Continued)3.
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6. Investment Property 

                                The Group
Land Building Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Cost
31 December 2015
Additions 243,019              147,294            390,313          
Reclassification 9,085               9,085             
31 December 2016 243,019              156,379            399,398          
Additions 107,950              439,798            547,748          
Revaluation 282,983              560,671            843,654          
Acquired in business combination 279,400              292,100            571,500          
Exchange rate adjustment (5,931)                (6,201)              (12,132)           
31 December 2017 907,421              1,442,647         2,350,068       
Additions 236,943            236,943          
31 March 2018 907,421              1,679,590         2,587,011       

Net Book Value
31 March 2018 907,421              1,679,590         2,587,011       
31 December 2017 907,421              1,442,647         2,350,068       

                                The Company
Land Building Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Cost
31 December 2015
Additions 243,019              147,294            390,313          
Reclassification 9,085               9,085             
31 December 2016 243,019              156,379            399,398          
Additions 107,950              439,798            547,748          
Revaluation gains 282,983              560,671            843,654          
31 December 2017 633,952              1,156,748         1,790,700       
Additions 236,943            236,943          
31 March 2018 633,952              1,393,691         2,027,643       

Net Book Value
31 March 2018 633,952              1,393,691         2,027,643       
31 December 2017 633,952              1,156,748         1,790,700        
 

  

  

  

    

-

-
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                                The Group                          The Company
Mar-18 Dec - 17 Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade 5,573                 3,974               3,491             3,974                   
Others 48,882                5,485               58,464            3,567                   
Prepayments 2,360                 34,702             1,555             33,512                 

56,815                44,161             63,510            41,053                 
Less: provision for impairment (406)                   (406)                 (406)               (406)                     

56,409                43,755             63,104            40,647                  
 
 

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

  The Group and Company
Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000
Cash in Bank 60,311                2,214               
Cash in Hand 20                      20                    

60,331                2,234                
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

 

The fair value of the company’s investment properties is categorized as Level 3 I the fair value 
hierarchy.

The properties are measured at fair value, as appraised by professionals, independent valuers every 
three years and in the intervening years by the directors. The valuation model considers the present 
value of the net cash flows that can be generated from the property, the condition of the buildings and 
their location 9Prime vs secondary), in addition to recent market transactions I the same proximity.
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                                The Group                          The Company
Mar-18 Dec - 17 Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade 5,573                 3,974               3,491             3,974                   
Others 48,882                5,485               58,464            3,567                   
Prepayments 2,360                 34,702             1,555             33,512                 

56,815                44,161             63,510            41,053                 
Less: provision for impairment (406)                   (406)                 (406)               (406)                     

56,409                43,755             63,104            40,647                  
 
 

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

  The Group and Company
Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000
Cash in Bank 60,311                2,214               
Cash in Hand 20                      20                    

60,331                2,234                
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

 

The fair value of the company’s investment properties is categorized as Level 3 I the fair value 
hierarchy.

The properties are measured at fair value, as appraised by professionals, independent valuers every 
three years and in the intervening years by the directors. The valuation model considers the present 
value of the net cash flows that can be generated from the property, the condition of the buildings and 
their location 9Prime vs secondary), in addition to recent market transactions I the same proximity.
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9. Payables 
 

                                The Group                          The Company
Mar-18 Dec - 17 Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Audit fees 1,639                 2,719               1,000             1,600                   
Rental deposit 18,227                15,950             15,950            15,950                 
Interest payable 12,390                14,405             12,390            14,405                 
Statutory 33                      329                  33                  329                      
Accruals 12,240                32,621             400                31,059                 

44,529                66,024             29,773            63,343                  
   

 
 

10. Share Capital 
 
 

Mar - 18 Dec - 17
$'000 $'000

Authorised :
        

     

Issued and fully paid 
10,930 (2017 - 10,830) 6% Cumulative Preference shares 22              22              
757,828,490 (2017 - 656,339,765) Ordinary shares 811,911      530,787      

811,933      530,809       
 
 
 

11. Borrowings 
 

               The Group          The Company
Mar-18 Dec - 17 Mar - 18 Dec - 17

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Development Bank of Jamaica Limited (a) 664,911              556,789            664,911          556,789               
Jamaica National Building Society (b) 156,560              157,120            -                      

821,471              713,909            664,911          556,789               
Current portion (39,763)               (39,634)            (35,781)           (35,781)                

781,708              674,275            629,130          521,008                
 
 
 

         
     

11,000 (2017 - 11,000) 6 % Cumulative Preference shares 
757,828,490 (2017 - 656,381,753) Ordinary Shares

-
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(a) Development Bank of Jamaica Limited and is secured by the following:  
  

(i) A first registered mortgage over Lot B1, Lot 6A, Lot 8A of land part of volume 313 and 
folio 49;   

  
(ii) First legal mortgage over Lot 2, Lot 4, Lot 6 and Lot 8 situated at 59 Half Way Tree Road;  

  
(iii) Comfort letter from Musson Jamaica Limited (the Parent Company);  

  
(iv) Assignment of all risk insurance over the Company building and equipment with 
Development Bank of Jamaica Limited interest noted as loss payee;  

  
(v) Establishment of a debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) in which shall be deposited 
over a period of six (6) months from the date of commencement of the lease an amount 
equivalent to three (3) moth principal payments and six (6) months interest payments totaling 
USD 209,026 such (DSRA) to be assigned to Development Bank of Jamaica Limited;  

  
(vi) assignment of lease agreements concerning those properties transferred to Stanley 
Motta Limited;  

  
(vii) Debenture in favour of Development Bank of Jamaica Limited over real property and 
other fixed assets belonging to the borrower; and  

  
(viii) Security interest in and over equipment and any other personal property 
purchased with the loan, such interest to be registered under the Security Interest in Personal 
Property Act by Development Bank of Jamaica Limited.  

  
The original loan disbursed was US$5,000,000. This loan is repayable over 12 years, amortized over 
10 years and 6 months with a moratorium of 18 months on interest, (which shall be accrued during 
the moratorium period and should be capitalized at the end of the moratorium period). The interest 
rate of 4.5%.   

  
(b) Jamaica National Building Society and is secured by the following:  

  
(i) This is secured on the Company‘s land and buildings.   

  
This loan is repayable over 202 months and at an interest rate of 11.375%.   

 

 11. Borrowings (Continued)

Stanley Motta Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2018
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

132STANLEY MOTTA PROSPECTUS



Risk Exposures
and Risk Management Policies
The Company’s activities as owner and operator of a technology park expose it to a variety of risks 
including: 

SECTION 16

1. Risk in Relation to First Issue

 This being the first public issue of shares by the Company, no formal market for the Shares 
has been established. The Price for the Shares has been determined by the Directors on the 
advice of NCB Capital Markets Limited as lead broker and financial adviser to the Company.  
The Price should not be taken to be indicative of the market price of the Shares as may 
obtain  after the Shares  are listed on the JSE. No assurance can be given regarding active 
or sustained trading in the Shares or regarding the price at which the Shares will be traded 
subsequent to listing of the Shares on the JSE.

2. Ordinary Stock Price Fluctuations

 The trading price of the Shares may fluctuate significantly after listing and may continue to do 
so in the future. Some of the reasons for fluctuations in the price of the Shares include but 
are not limited to:

 
• announcements of developments related to Stanley’s Motta’s business;
•  the issue of additional Shares by the Company from time to time;
•  announcements concerning the Properties;
•  general conditions in the economy, the BPO real estate market, and the markets served 

by any of the major tenants;
• substantial loss or damage to any of the buildings on the Campus by hurricane, fire and 

other natural disasters;
• changes in the law regarding several matters including but not limited to taxation, rights 

of landlords and tenants, planning and the environment.

3. Changes in Government Policies

 The Government of Jamaica and the governments of its trading partners including the United 
States may from time to time affect macroeconomic conditions through fiscal and monetary 
policies, which may have adverse impact on the real estate market, the stock market, the 
viability of providing services offshore including call centres and negatively affect the 
performance of the Company. 

4. Risks of hurricane, fire and other Acts of God

 Material events affecting the technology park could also impact the Company’s performance 
and operating results. The buildings are susceptible to loss or damage by fire, hurricane, 
earthquake, flood and other perils. Although the Company and UCI intend to maintain 
insurance on their properties against such perils there are numerous factors which could 
expose the buildings to loss as a result of a fire, hurricane or other such peril. For instance: (a) 
the insurers may delay settlement or deny liability in respect of a claim for a variety of reasons 
and even if the Company were to ultimately prevail, such delay may prevent the repair or 
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reinstatement of the Property with consequential loss of rental income and exposure to 
increased costs of repairs or reinstatement; (b)  an insurer or reinsurer may become insolvent 
or otherwise be unable to respond to a loss under the policy of insurance; (c) loss of rent 
is not covered under the insurance policy; or (d) after a loss, the sitting tenant may elect to 
relocate to other premises or to close operations in the leased premises and the Company 
may be unable to promptly find a suitable replacement tenant.

5. Taxation Risks

 Changes in the tax treatment of SEZ/Free Zone companies Jamaica or of companies listed 
on the JSE could materially affect the profitability of the Company. Increase in property taxes 
or the introduction of any new tax on companies generally or on rental properties may also 
affect the Company’s profit margin. 

 The nature of SML’s  business requires the application of revenue or tax rules relating to Free 
Zones, SEZ and non-exempt corporate taxpayers. Internal or external reviews or audits may 
reveal information that may cause adverse revenue or tax events and affect the Company’s 
results or operations. Existing tax laws or regulations could be interpreted or modified 
adversely to the Company (possibly with retroactive effect), which could require the Company 
to pay additional tax amounts, as well as require the Company to pay fines or penalties. 

6. Foreign Currency Risk

 Although all leases are either payable or denominated in United States dollars fluctuations 
in the exchange rate may depress the value of commercial real estate and negatively impact 
the Company. 

7. Operational Risks

 Critical areas of operational risks include: (a) employee errors- such as failure to renew 
insurance or to insure for the proper value; (b) accounting errors, data entry errors; (c) 
failing to comply with landlord obligations such as using the agreed quality of material and 
undertaking any structural repairs/maintenance required which may cause a tenant to 
institute claims against the Company and (d) fraud (internal and external) or other criminal 
activity. Under the Management Agreement between Felton Property Services Limited and 
Stanley Motta, the Management Company is required to indemnify the Company against loss 
or damage caused by the gross negligence, or willful default or fraud of the Management 
Company or any of its employees or agents in the performance of their duties or functions. 
The Management Company seeks to eliminate such risks by maintaining a comprehensive 
system of internal controls and administrative checks and balances to monitor transactions 
supported by a robust internal auditing capability. It also maintains an off-site data repository 
which will enable it to continue operations in the event of catastrophe affecting its operating 
location.

8. Lessees’ Risks

 Although the Company has taken care to select reputable tenants for the Campus nevertheless 
changes in the business fortune of a tenant could affect its creditworthiness and business 
practices. Rental income of the Company may therefore be affected by counter-party risk 
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under the relevant leases - that is to say the risk that a tenant may be unable or unwilling to 
pay its rent on the due date. That risk has been ameliorated somewhat, but not substantially, 
by requiring anchor tenants to pay to finish the interior of the properties and for all tenants to 
pay a security deposit, typically equivalent to one month’s rent and, in a few cases, equivalent 
to two months’ rent.

9. Fluctuation Property Value

 Movement in the market value of the Properties will be reflected in the value of the Shares. 
Property value may fall for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to, change in 
government policy or taxation; fall in demand for rentable BPO space and office space and 
construction of new and more modern office facilities.

10. Lack of Diversification

 The Company’s sole source of direct income is from the rental of units in the technology park. 
Its only other source of income is from dividends from Unity Capital, whose sole income is 
derived from the rental of office space in its building at 58 Half Way Tree Road. The lack of 
diversification means that the Company is particularly exposed to risks affecting the property 
market.

11. Insurance Program

 The Properties are insured against Fire & Perils and Contractors All Risk as applicable. The 
insurer or one or more of the underwriters under the insurance program may become 
insolvent and unable to meet its/their obligations in the event of a claim.

12. Related Party & Potential Conflict of Interest

 The Management Company and General Accident, a tenant at the Campus, have common 
ownership. Notwithstanding that the parties all share common interest in the success of the 
Company it is possible that conflicts of interest could arise.

13. Risk Management

 The Company’s goal in risk management is to ensure that it understands, measures, and 
monitors the various risks that arise and that it adheres strictly to the policies and procedures, 
which are established to address these potential risks. The Directors are ultimately responsible 
for the risk management policies of the Company. 

14. Taxation of Listed Shares

 Transfers of any ordinary share across the floor of the JSE are exempt from transfer tax 
and stamp duty in Jamaica. Dividends received by a Shareholder may or may not be subject 
to tax in the country where the Shareholder is resident. Each prospective Shareholder 
should consult with an independent adviser as to the rate of taxes that is applicable to the 
Shareholder. 
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15. Payment of Dividends

 The payment of dividends on the Shares after the Invitation will be primarily dependent on 
the Company’s future profitability. See further details at the section entitled Dividend Policy 
above.

16. Issue of additional shares

 The Directors may hereafter authorize the issue of additional shares in the Company in any 
class. Such shares, once issued, may rank pari passu with and/or in priority of the existing 
Shares and may be listed on the JSE. Additional shares so issued could affect the market price 
of the Shares the subject of the Invitation.

 
 The risks mentioned in this Section are not to be taken as being exhaustive of all the possible 

risks that may affect the Company and its business.
 
 The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the 

risk management framework. The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee for 
managing and monitoring risks.

 
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for (i) assisting the Board of Directors in its 
oversight of the financial statements and the financial reporting process, including the system 
of disclosure controls, (ii) the performance of the Company’s internal audit function and the 
independent registered public accounting firm, including its appointment, qualifications, 
compensation and independence (iii) the effectiveness of the Company’s systems of internal 
controls and policies and procedures for risk assessment and risk management, and (iv) the 
effectiveness of the Company’s procedures for risk assessment and risk management of material 
credit, interest rate, liquidity, operational, legal and compliance, and other material risks, and the 
adequacy of capital available to absorb such risks.
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Statutory and General Information

Statutory Information required to be set out in this Prospectus by section 41 and the Third Schedule to 
the Companies Act and other general information follow.

1. The Company was incorporated on December 23, 1948 and its registered office is 58 Half Way 
Tree Road, Kingston 10 

2. The Company has no founders, management or deferred shares.

3. The Articles fix no shareholding qualification for the directors.

4. The Articles contain the following provisions with respect to the remuneration of the Directors.

- 94. Remuneration of Directors

 The remuneration of the Directors shall from time to time be determined by the Company in 
general meeting.  Unless otherwise provided, such remuneration shall be deemed to accrue 
from day to day. The Directors may also be paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly 
incurred by them in attending and returning from meetings of the Directors or any committee 
of the Directors or general meetings of the Company or otherwise in connection with the 
discharge of their duties or with the business of the Company. 

- 95.  Special Remuneration

 Any Director who serves on any committee or who devotes special attention to the business 
of the Company, or who otherwise performs services which in the opinion of the Directors are 
outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, may be paid such extra remuneration by 
way of salary, percentage of profits or otherwise as the Directors may determine.  

- 102. Directors May Contract with the Company

 (a) A Director may enter into or be interested in contracts or arrangements with the Company 
(whether with regard to any such office or place of profit or any such acting in a professional 
capacity or as a vendor, purchaser or otherwise howsoever) and may have or be interested in 
dealings of any nature whatsoever with the Company and shall not be disqualified from office 
thereby. No such contract, arrangement, or dealing shall be liable to be avoided nor shall any 
Director so contracting, dealing or being so interested be liable to account to the Company for 
any profit arising out of any such contract, arrangement, or dealing to which he is a party or 
in which he is interested by reason of his being a Director of the Company or of the fiduciary 
relationship thereby established. A Director who is so interested as aforesaid shall not be 
counted in the quorum at any meeting at which such matter is considered and shall not vote 
in respect of any such contract or arrangement.
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 (d) A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the 
office of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director for such period and on such terms (as 
to remuneration and otherwise) as the Directors may determine and no Director or intending 
director shall be disqualified by his office from contracting with the Company either with regard 
to his tenure of any such other office or place of profit or as vendor, purchaser or otherwise, 
nor shall any such contract, or any contract or arrangement entered into by or on behalf of 
the Company in which any Director is in any way interested, be liable to be avoided, nor shall 
any Director so contracting or being so interested be liable to account to the Company for any 
profit realized by any such contract or arrangement by reason of such Director holding that 
office or of the fiduciary relation thereby established.

- 105. Payment of Pensions, Etc. to Directors

 The Directors may establish or arrange any contributory or non-contributory pension or 
superannuation scheme for the benefit of, or pay a gratuity pension, emolument, insurance, 
allowance or other benefit to any person who is or has been employed by or in the service of the 
Company, or any subsidiary of the Company, or to any person who is, or has been, a Director or 
other officer of the Company or any such subsidiary, and the spouse, former spouse, widow/
widower, family member or dependent of any such person.  The Directors may (as well before 
as after such person ceases to hold such office or employment) set up, establish, support and 
maintain pension, superannuation or other funds or schemes (whether contributory or non-
contributory) or pay premiums for the purchase or provision of any such benefit. Any Director 
shall be entitled to receive and retain for his own benefit any such pension, annuity, gratuity, 
allowance or other benefit, and may vote as the Director in respect of the exercise of any of 
the powers of this Article conferred upon the Directors notwithstanding that he is or may be or 
become interested therein.

- 125. Remuneration of Managing Director

 A Managing Director shall receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission 
or participation in profits, or partly in one way and partly in another) as the Directors may 
determine and it may be made a term of his appointment that he, his widow and other 
dependents be paid a pension or gratuity on retirement from his office or death. The terms of 
the appointment/employment referenced in this Article and the Article immediately preceding 
it, need not be confirmed by the Company in general meeting

 
5. The Opening Date: July 6, 2018

6. The Closing Date:  July 20, 2018, subject to the right of the Company to designate an earlier or 
later date in the circumstances set out in this Prospectus.

7. J$5.31 is payable on submission of the Application in respect of each Share. 

8. 757,818,862 Ordinary Shares are being made available for purchase.
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9. The names, descriptions and addresses of the Directors are included below:

10. No previous invitations/offers with respect to shares in the Company have been made to the 
public.

11. The price for each Share is J$5.31

12. All Applicants will be required to pay in full the price per Share along with the JCSD processing 
fees as specified in this Prospectus. No further sum will be payable by any Applicant with 
respect to Shares under any Application.

13. The Company has no investments.

14. There is no amount for goodwill or value of intellectual property stated in the Company’s 
financial statements. 

15. Aggregate bank loans and other indebtedness of the Company as at March 31, 2018 
amount to $822,341,170.00. This figure includes the indebtedness of Unity Capital to JN 
being $161,284,200.00. Please refer to the Audited Financial Statements attached herein. 
Aggregate bank loans and other indebtedness of Unity Capital as at March 31, 2018 amount to 
$161,284,200.00.

16. No real property is currently proposed to be purchased or acquired by the Company and paid 
for wholly or partly out of the proceeds of this Invitation for the purposes of the applicable 
statutory requirements.

Name of Director Description Address

Melanie Subratie Executive 109 Marcus Garvey Drive, 
Kingston 13

Sandra Glasgow Non-Executive (Independent) 9 Paddington Terrace, 
Kingston 6, St. Andrew

Minna Israel Non-Executive (Independent) 6 Long Lane, Kingston 8, St. 
Andrew

Patricia Sutherland Non-Executive (Independent) 5 Melwood Avenue, Kingston 
8, St. Andrew

Sharon Donaldson Non-Executive (Independent) 3 Millsborough Avenue, 
Kingston 6, St. Andrew

Jennifer Scott Non-Executive 4A Manor Court, Kingston 8, 
St. Andrew

Andrea Kinach Non-Executive (Independent) 85 Hope Road, Kingston 6
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17. Within the last two years preceding the date of this Prospectus no amount or benefit has been 
paid or given or is intended to be paid or given to any promoter save for:  fees to be paid to 
NCB Capital Markets Limited for services rendered in relation to the Invitation pursuant to 
an agreement dated October 20, 2017 which fees are included in the total amount of the 
expenses stated in the paragraph below. 

18. The net proceeds from the Invitation will be paid to the Selling Shareholders. The Selling 
Shareholders expect to pay the expenses of the Invitation out of the proceeds of the Invitation, 
and the Company estimates that such expenses will not exceed $85 million (inclusive of 
brokerage fees, underwriter fees, legal fees, auditors’ fees, listing fees, registration fees, 
marketing expenses, Companies Registrars’ fees, initial fees and GCT). Therefore, in the opinion 
of the Directors, the minimum amount of J$4 billion must be raised from the Invitation to cover 
these expenses. 

19. The name and addresses of the auditors to the Company are PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC’) 
whose offices are located at the Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Kingston, Jamaica. 

20. PwC has given and not withdrawn its consent to issue the Prospectus with the inclusion of the 
financial information, and its name in the form and context in which it is included.

21. NAI Langford and Brown has given and not withdrawn its consent to issue the Prospectus with 
the inclusion of the valuation prepared by it referenced at Section 18, as a document available 
for inspection.

22. Llewelyn Allen & Associates has given and not withdrawn its consent to issue the Prospectus 
with the inclusion of the surveyor’s report prepared by it referenced at Section 18, as a 
document available for inspection. 

23. The Invitation is underwritten by the Underwriter up to a maximum of the equivalent of 
US$21,000,000.00.

24. Contracts signed within the past 2 years and prior to the issuing of this Prospectus were 
entered into in the normal course of business. The material contracts of the Company are as 
set out in Section 9 – Information about the Company (Company Overview).

25. No person has, or is entitled to be given, any option to subscribe for any share in, or debentures 
of, the Company.

26. The proceeds of the issue will not be applied wholly or partly, directly nor indirectly, in the 
purchase of any business by the Company. 

27. The proceeds of the issue will not be applied wholly or partly, directly nor indirectly in any 
manner resulting in the acquisition by the Company of shares in any other undertaking.
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28. Provisions of the Articles relating to the voting rights conferred by and the rights in respect of 
capital and dividends attaching to the classes of shares in the capital of the Company are set 
out below. 

Ordinary Shares

- Voting Rights

7.   Modification of Rights

 If at any time the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, the 
rights attached to any class or any such rights (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue 
of the shares of that class) may, whether or not the Company is being wound up, be varied with 
the consent in writing of the holders of three-fourths of the issued shares of that class, or with 
the sanction of an extraordinary resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders 
of the shares of the class.  To every such separate general meeting the provisions of these 
Articles relating to general meetings shall, mutatis mutandis, apply but so that the necessary 
quorum shall be one person at the least holding or representing by proxy one-third of the 
issued shares of the class (but so that if at any adjourned meeting of such holder a quorum as 
above defined is not present, those members who are present shall be a quorum) and that any 
holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy or by any other means permitted by 
these Articles may demand a poll and, on a poll, shall have one vote for each share of the class 
of which he is the holder. Provided always that notwithstanding anything herein, these Articles 
are not intended to and do not affect the rights of any holder of preference shares issued prior 
to the adoption of these Articles.

80.  Right to Vote

 Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, 
on a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy or by any other means 
permitted by these Articles, shall have one vote, and on a poll every member shall have one 
vote for each share of which he is the holder.  

- Dividend Rights

135. Right of Dividends and Apportionment
 
 Subject to the rights of persons, if any, entitled to shares with special rights as to dividend, all 

dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the 
shares in respect whereof the dividend is paid, but no amount paid or credited as paid on a 
share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this Article as paid on the share.  
All dividends shall be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid or credited 
as paid on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the 
dividend is paid; but if any share is issued on terms providing that it shall rank for dividend as 
from a particular date such share shall rank for dividend accordingly. 
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- Liquidation Rights

156. Distribution of Assets in Specie

 If the Company shall be wound up the liquidator may, with the sanction of an extraordinary 
resolution of the Company and any other sanction required by the Act, divide amongst the 
members in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they 
shall consist of property of the same kind or not) and may, for such purpose, set such value 
as he deems fair upon any property to be divided as aforesaid and may determine how such 
division shall be carried out as between the members or different classes of members.  The 
liquidator may with the like sanction, vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon 
such trusts for the benefit of the members or any of them as the liquidator, with the like 
sanction, shall think fit, but so that no member shall be compelled to accept any shares or 
other securities whereon there is any liability 

The terms of the voting rights conferred by and the rights in respect of capital and dividends attaching 
to the 6% Cumulative Preference Shares at $2.00 each are set out below. 

6% Cumulative Preference Shares at $2.00 each

- Voting Rights

 The Preference Shares have no voting rights except in limited circumstances including matters 
in relation to the variation of their rights

- Dividend Rights

 The Preference Shares carry a right to a cumulative annual preference dividend of 6% payable 
in priority to all dividends on Ordinary Shares. 

 
- Liquidation Rights

 On a return of capital, on a winding up or otherwise, the surplus assets of the Company shall 
be applied to the holders of the Preference Shares and any unpaid dividends in priority to any 
payments to holders of ordinary shares. The Preference Shares may be voluntarily redeemed 
by the Company at the discretion of the Board of Directors but are not otherwise redeemable

29. No amount is recommended for distribution by way of a dividend as at the date of this 
Prospectus.

30. Neither the Company nor Unity Capital is engaged in any litigation, nor is either of them aware 
of any pending litigation.
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1. This Prospectus

2. The Articles of Incorporation of the Company.
 
3. The Audited Financial Information for 

the years ending December 31, 2013 to 
December 31, 2017.

 
4. The consent of the Auditor to the inclusion 

of their names and references thereto in the 
form and context in which they appear in this 
Prospectus.

 
5. The material contracts and licences referred 

to in Section 9.

6. The titles to the parcels of land registered in 
the names of the Company and Unity Capital 
that are located at 58 Half Way Tree Road 
being the parcels registered at:

7. The Projected Valuation Report on 58 Half 
Way Tree Road [all properties] Kingston 
10, Jamaica prepared by Gordon Langford 
MRICS, NAI Jamaica Langford and Brown 
dated November 5, 2017.

 
8. The consent from NAI Langford and Brown 

to the inclusion of their name and references 
thereto to the form and context in which 
they appear to this Prospectus and in the 
Projected Valuation Report.

 
9. The Surveyor’s Report prepared by Llewelyn 

Allen & Associates on land at 58 Half Way 
Tree Road dated March 8, 2018.

10. The consent from Llewelyn Allen & Associates 
to the inclusion of the Surveyor’s Report in 
this Prospectus. 

Documents Available
for Inspection
Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the offices of DunnCox at 48 Duke Street, 
Kingston between the hours of 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on Mondays to Fridays, up to and including the 
Closing Date (or the extended Closing Date as the case may be): 

Volume Folio
1496 9

1495 819

1475 670

1496 10

1512 520

1512 522

1128 126

of the Register Book of Titles
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Directors’ Signatures
The Directors whose signatures appear below are individually and collectively responsible for the 
contents of the Prospectus and each has signed same pursuant to a resolution of the Directors 
authorizing the issue of this Prospectus:

_____________________    _____________________
Melanie Subratie    Sandra Glasgow

_____________________    _____________________
Minna Israel     Patricia Sutherland

_____________________    _____________________
Sharon Donaldson    Jennifer Scott

_____________________
Andrea Kinach 
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1-888-4-WEALTH | www.ncbcapitalmarkets.com

NCB Jamaica Limited | NCB Insurance Company Limited | Advantage General 
Insurance Company Limited | NCB Global Finance Limited | N.C.B. Foundation

APPENDIX 1

APPLICATION PROCEDURES, TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. Each Applicant may apply for Ordinary Shares in the Invitation by means of the applicable Application Form included in this Prospectus. Each duly completed 
and signed Application Form, accompanied/supported by payment, or evidence thereof, for the exact amount payable, by method approved by the Broker an 
“Approved Payment Method”, must be taken to any of the locations detailed below on or before the closing hour for the respective location on the Closing Date.

2. The exact amount payable for the Shares for which you are applying (being the number of Ordinary Shares, multiplied by the Offer Price per Share) plus JCSD 
processing fee of JMD 163.10 (inclusive of GCT) must be paid in one of the following four (4) ways.

2.1. By Real Time Gross Settlement System (“RTGS System”) or Automated Clearing House (ACH) for amounts below J$1,000,000.00 to the Bro-
ker  using the following information, and evidence of such payment supplied with the completed and signed Application Form: 

         NCB CAPITAL MARKETS LIMITED
1. Bank: National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited

2. BIC: JNCBJMKX

3. Branch: 1-7 Knutsford Boulevard (New Kingston)

4. Account Name: NCB Capital Markets Limited

5. Beneficiary Address: NCB Atrium, 32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10

6. Account number: 241406067

(Stanley Motta IPO/Bond: Please include the applicant’s name and JCSD account number or TRN in the transaction details of 
the RTGS or ACH)

2.2. Applicants who have an NCBJ bank account may use NCBJ online or do a direct deposit in an NCBJ branch using the above banking information 
and evidence of such payment supplied with the completed and signed application form.

2.3. Applicants who have an investment account with the Broker (i.e. NCB Capital Markets Limited) may submit a letter of instruction to the Broker 
authorising the Broker to apply funds standing to the credit of such Applicant against the invitation price payable  for Ordinary Shares proposed 
to be purchased.

2.4. Payment may also be made via a J$ Manager’s Cheque drawn on a Jamaican commercial bank made payable to the Broker and will be accepted 
only in respect of payments for less than J$1,000,000.00

3. The Selling Shareholders in their sole discretion may accept (in whole or in part) or reject any application to purchase Ordinary Shares even if the application is 
received, validated and processed.

4. If your application to purchase Shares is accepted (in whole or in part), this will be a binding contract under which you will have agreed to purchase the Ordinary 
Shares in respect of which your application has been accepted at the Invitation Price.

5. Once the Invitation closes, if the Invitation is oversubscribed:

(i) Applicants may be allocated and issued fewer Ordinary Shares than they applied for, or 

(ii) Ordinary Shares  may be allotted to Applicants on a “Pro Rata” basis, with the Applications submitted earlier (following the opening of the 
invitation)  being allocated Ordinary Shares  prior to those Applications which were submitted later, and the Applications submitted later may be 
scaled down to the extent necessary given the respective numbers of Ordinary Shares  available in the Invitation.

6. The monies, which are refundable to the applicant if the application has only been accepted in part, will be paid to the Applicant’s broker account or their bank 
account as indicated in section ‘V’.

7. Should there be any repayment by cheque these will be sent to the  Broker  through which the Applications were received, who will distribute same (if by mail, at 
the Applicant’s risk) to the addresses of the Applicants (or of the first-named joint Applicant) as stated in the Application Form. The Company will use its best ef-
forts to send the letters of allotment and refund cheques to the Broker within seven working days after the Closing Date or as soon thereafter as practicable. If the 
amount to be refunded is equal to or greater than J$1,000,000.00, refund payments shall only be made to the Applicant using the Bank of Jamaica’s Real Time 
Gross Settlement System, and where the subscription price in respect of an Application is in excess of J$1,000,000.00, the required details to facilitate refund 
payments by that method must be provided on the Application Form.

8. If the application to list the Ordinary Shares on the Jamaica Stock Exchange is successful, the securities issued pursuant to the offer will be issued in the JCSD 
for the credit of the accounts of the successful Applicants. If the application to list the Ordinary Shares on the Jamaica Stock Exchange is not successful, all 
payments for the Ordinary Shares received from Applicants will be returned to the applicant via credit to the Applicant’s broker account and the purchases of such 
Ordinary Shares will be cancelled.

9. Where the Applicant is an individual, such person must be at least 18 years old. However, Applicants who have not yet attained the age of eighteen (18) years may 
apply jointly with Applicants who are at least eighteen (18) years of age

10. See list of NCB Capital Markets Ltd. locations on page ‘4’

I N I T I A L  P U B L I C  O F F E R I N G
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APPENDIX I: SUBSCRIPTION FORM – ORDINARY SHARES

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM

To: STANLEY MOTTA LIMITED

Re: Invitation for Subscription for up to 757,818,862 Ordinary shares in Stanley Motta Limited made pursuant to the Prospectus dated  
the  27th day of  June 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

I/We confirm that I/we have read and understood and hereby agree to be bound by the terms and conditions contained in the Prospectus, all of which are incorporated into 
Application Form by reference.

I/We hereby offer to purchase _________________________________ Ordinary shares in Stanley Motta Limited proposed to be sold by the Selling Shareholders on and subject 
to the terms and conditions of the Invitation set out in the Prospectus at the price of JMD 5.31.  I/We agree to pay the sum of JMD _________________________for my/our 
subscription and the JCSD processing fee of JMD 163.10 (inclusive of GCT) with proof of payment attached or I/we request my broker to make payment on my/our behalf from 
cleared funds held by them in my/our names in account numbered ______________________________ with them. 

I/We agree to accept the same or any smaller number of Ordinary shares in respect of which this application may be accepted, subject to the terms and conditions in the 
Prospectus and the Articles of Incorporation of Stanley Motta Limited, by which I/We agree to be bound.  I/We request you to sell and transfer to me/us the number of Ordinary 
shares, which may be allocated to me/us at the close of the said Invitation the terms and conditions governing applications, as set forth in the Prospectus.  I/We hereby agree to 
accept the Ordinary Shares that may be allocated to me/us to be credited to an account in my/our name(s) in the Jamaica Central Securities Depository.

Instructions for completing application form: All fields are relevant and must be completed. 

Reserved Share Applicant (If applicable, see overleaf & the Prospectus)    Yes  No

SECTION I - PRIMARY HOLDER
 
 
Full Name of Applicant              
(Individual or Company) 
 
TRN           Occupation/               
    Line of Business 
 
Address         
 
 
Nationality or                           Telephone    
Incorporation Country                          (Home) 
 
Telephone  Telephone                   Facsimile     
(Work)     (Cellular) 
 
Email            Broker   
Address                      Code 
 
JCSD   Broker                                        Date of          
Number     Account Number                                     Application 
 
 
Signatures 
(Company)                
      DIRECTOR     DIRECTOR/SECRETARY 
 
 
Signature         SEAL OR STAMP REQUIRED FOR COMPANIES 
(individual)           
      APPLICANT 

SECTION II - SECONDARY HOLDERS

Full Name                         
(First Joint Holder) 
 
TRN            Occupation    
 
 
Signature        Date    
(Individual)  
 
Full Name                         
(Second Joint Holder) 
 
TRN            Occupation    
 
 
Signature        Date    
(individual)  
 
Full Name                         
(Third Joint Holder) 
 
TRN            Occupation    
 
 
Signature        Date       
(individual)  
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SECTION III – PAYMENT VERIFICATION INFORMATION

NCB Capital Markets Account    Yes     No    If no, please complete one of the payment options below 
 
Managers Cheque 
 
Cheque number       Cheque Amount   

,, ,
    Institution    

 
 
Cheque date                            Issuing Branch     
 
 
Direct Deposit 
 
Transaction reference        Cash/Cheque    

,, ,
  

number     Amount 
 
Transaction date                      Issuing Branch     
 
 
ACH/RTGS 
 
Amount       

,, ,
   Confirmation/           Institution    

                      Reference # 
 
Sender’s Account           Sender’s              
Name          Account # 
 
Date of Transfer   
 
 
Online Transfer 
 
Amount       

,, ,
   Confirmation/           Institution    

     Reference  # 
 
Sender’s Account           Sender’s              
Name          Account # 
 
Date of Transfer    
 

SECTION IV – DIVIDEND MANDATE

Bank/Broker      Bank/Broker             
Name          Account Number 
 
Bank        Account:   Savings    Chequing    Broker             BIC   
Branch                Type

SECTION V – REFUND MANDATE (Please select preferred option)

Bank/Broker      Bank/Broker             
Name          Account Number          
 
Bank        Account:   Savings    Chequing    Broker             BIC   
Branch                Type 
 
ALL APPLICANTS MUST INPUT THEIR TRN NUMBERS. THIS OFFER IS NOT MADE TO PERSONS RESIDENT OUTSIDE JAMAICA 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Applicants must apply for a minimum of 1,000 Shares with increments in multiples of 100. Applications in other denominations will not be processed or accepted. This 
restriction is not applicable to Applicants for Reserved Shares.

2. If you are not a Reserve Share Applicant you must attach your payment for the specified number of Reserved Shares you have applied for, in the form of either: 

a. Manager’s cheque made payable to  NCB Capital Markets Limited;

b. Transfer or deposit of funds to the following account:

 NCB CAPITAL MARKETS LIMITED

1. Bank: National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited

2. BIC: JNCBJMKX

3. Branch: 1-7 Knutsford Boulevard (New Kingston)

4. Account Name: NCB Capital Markets Limited

5. Beneficiary Address: NCB Atrium, 32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10

6. Account number: 241406067 

3. If you are a Reserve Share Applicant, please specify at the top of the Application Form. You must attach payment or evidence of payment for the specified number of 
Reserve Shares for which you are applying. 

4. If you are applying jointly with any other person, you must complete the Joint Holder Information (in order appearing on account) and each joint holder must sign the 
Application Form at the place indicated.
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5. Share certificates will not be issued unless specifically requested. Instead, the Ordinary Shares allotted to a successful applicant will be credited to the applicants account 
at the Jamaica Central Securities Depository. If the Applicant does not have a JCSD account, one will be created and the allotted shares deposited to that account. 
Applicants may refer to the notice posted on the JSE website (www.jamstockex.com) for instructions on confirming Share allotments.

6. All Applicants must have a broker account for their application form to accepted.

7. All Applicants are deemed to have accepted the terms and conditions set out in the Prospectus generally. 
 

SECTION VI – FOR USE BY BROKER ONLY

Full Name of Applicant        
 
 
Date Application   Time Received  :  
Received 
 
Payment Method:     Cheque   Authorisation Letter   RTGS/ACH   Online Transfer    NCB Capital Markets Account 
 
 
 Date of Transaction         
 
 
Payment Amount    

,, ,
                   Pool    

 
 

 
Broker Authorised Signatory & Stamp

NCB CAPITAL MARKETS BRANCH LOCATIONS

1-7 Knutsford Blvd, Kingston, Jamaica, W.I. Half-Way Tree, 94 HWT Rd., Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.

Matildas Corner, 15 Northside Plaza, P.O. Box 72, Kingston, Jamaica, W.I. St. Jago, St. Jago Shopping Centre, St. Catherine, Jamaica, W.I.

University Branch, Mona Campus, Kingston, Jamaica, W.I. Portmore, 13- 14 West Trade Way, Portmore, St. Catherine, Jamaica, W.I.

Duke & Barry Street, 37 Duke St., Kingston, Jamaica, W.I. Constant Spring, 124-126 Constant Spring Rd., Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.

Cross Roads, 90-94 Slipe Rd. P.O. Box 5 Kingston, Jamaica, W.I. Atrium, 32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.

Fairview, Lot B3 – Section 1-5, Bogue Estate, Montego Bay, St. James Santa Cruz, 7 Coke Drive, Santa Cruz P.O., St. Elizabeth, Jamaica, W.I

St. Ann’s Bay, 19-21 Main St. St. Ann’s Bay, St. Ann, Jamaica, W.I Mandeville, 6 Perth Road, P.O. Box 61 Mandeville, Manchester, Jamaica, W.I

41 Main St., P.O. Box 29, May Pen, Clarendon, Jamaica, W.I Ocho Rios 40 Main St., Ocho Rios, St. Ann, Jamaica, W.I

Savanna-La-Mar, 68 Great Georges St. P.O Box 10 Savanna-la-mar, Jamaica, W.I
Private Client Services – (separate from Constant Spring) 124-126 Constant Spring Rd., 
Kingston, Jamaica, W.I.
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